
Tuesday, June 3, 2025, 6:00 PM
Council Chambers
One DesCombes Drive
Broomfield, CO 80020

** Revised **

View Correspondence
View Presentations

1. Meeting Commencement

1.A. Pledge of Allegiance

1.B. Review and Approval of Agenda

2. Petitions and Communications

2.A. LGBTQIA+ Pride Month Proclamation

2.B. Proclamation Declaring June 6, 2025 as National Gun Violence Awareness Day

3. Councilmember Reports

4. Public Comment

5. Reports

6. Consent Items

6.A. Board of Equalization - Proposed Resolution for the Adoption of a Hearing Officer
Recommendation for an Abatement Petition
(Board of Equalization - BOE)

— Resolution 2025-83-BOE approving Hearing Officer recommendation on an Abatement
Petition

6.B. Proposed Resolution Google Fiber Master License Agreement (Fiber to Home)

— Resolution 2025-86 approving Google Fiber Master License Agreement

6.C. Proposed Resolution Broadband Ready Certified Community

— Resolution No. 2025-96 Acknowledging Broomfield is a Broadband Ready Certified
Community by the Colorado Broadband Office in the Governor’s Office of Information
Technology

7. Action Items

7.A. Public Hearing - Brainard V Genesis Dealership Planned Unit Development Plan, Final Plat, Site
Development Plan/Urban Renewal Site Plan & Use by Special Review

— Resolution No. 2025-91 - A Resolution Approving Brainard V Replat B (4101 Industrial Lane)
Planned Unit Development Plan, Final Plat, Site Development Plan/Urban Renewal Site Plan and
Use by Special Review

— Resolution No. 2025-92-UR - A Resolution Approving Brainard V Replat B (4101 Industrial
Lane) Urban Renewal Site Plan

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82


7.B. BURA Public Hearing - Brainard V Genesis Dealership Planned Unit Development Plan, Final
Plat, Site Development Plan/Urban Renewal Site Plan & Use by Special Review
(Broomfield Urban Renewal Authority - BURA)
This item will be reviewed concurrently with Item 7A to see memo and resolution, see item 7A.

7.C. Proposed Resolution Mile High Flood District (MHFD) Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) -
Nissen Reservoir Channel Concrete Trail

— Resolution 2025-76 - Amendment to the Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with the Mile
High Flood District (MHFD) for the Nissen Reservoir Channel project

7.D. Proposed Resolution Mile High Flood District Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) - City Park
Channel at Main St Improvements

— Resolution 2025-77 Second Amendment to the Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with Mile
High Flood District (MHFD)

7.E. Proposed Resolution Relating to Front Range Passenger Rail District

— Resolution 2025-102 regarding the City and County of Broomfield’s support for a potential
ballot measure of the Front Range Passenger Rail District

8. Mayor and Councilmember Requests for Future Action

9. Adjournment

The City and County of Broomfield operates without regard to race, color, national origin, ethnicity, citizenship,
immigration status, gender, age, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, marital status, source
of income, military status, or disability in all programs and activities. 
Individuals with disabilities requiring accommodation or persons needing a language interpreter must submit such
a request to the City Clerk no later than noon on Thursday prior to the scheduled Council meeting to allow adequate
time to make arrangements.  Please call 303.438.6332 or TDD 303.465.5411 or write cityclerk@broomfield.org to
make your request.
During the meeting, individuals can click the “CC” button on Live Council meeting video feeds to view closed
captioning. Auxiliary hearing aid equipment can be requested on the night of the meeting with our AV team located
at the back of the Council Chambers.

Date Posted: June 2, 2025

mailto:cityclerk@broomfield.org


City and County of Broomfield

City Council Regular Meeting

A. LGBTQIA+ Pride Month Proclamation

Meeting

Tuesday, June 3, 2025, 6:00 PM

Agenda Group

Petitions and Communications Item: 2A.

Presented By

Vanessa Oldham-Barton

Community Goals

☑ Thriving, Diverse, Safe and Welcoming Community

Overview

View Correspondence 

View Presentation

Proclamation declaring June 2025 as LGBTQIA+ Pride Month in Broomfield.

 

 

 

Attachments

Memo for Proclamation Declaring June 2025 as LGBTQIA+ Month in Broomfield.pdf
LGBTQIA+ Pride Month Proclamation 2025.pdf

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F676ec6c45b76a80054c8383c%2FMemo%20for%20Proclamation%20Declaring%20June%202025%20as%20LGBTQIA%2B%20Month%20in%20Broomfield.pdf?alt=media&token=60a0a679-1dea-4c4b-bcfb-69b7f058ec9a
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F676ec6c45b76a80054c8383c%2FMemo%20for%20Proclamation%20Declaring%20June%202025%20as%20LGBTQIA%2B%20Month%20in%20Broomfield.pdf?alt=media&token=60a0a679-1dea-4c4b-bcfb-69b7f058ec9a
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F676ec6c45b76a80054c8383c%2FMemo%20for%20Proclamation%20Declaring%20June%202025%20as%20LGBTQIA%2B%20Month%20in%20Broomfield.pdf?alt=media&token=60a0a679-1dea-4c4b-bcfb-69b7f058ec9a
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F676ec6c45b76a80054c8383c%2FLGBTQIA%2B%20Pride%20Month%20Proclamation%202025.pdf?alt=media&token=b83c2041-df59-496b-8eec-7b79eecc5fa0
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F676ec6c45b76a80054c8383c%2FLGBTQIA%2B%20Pride%20Month%20Proclamation%202025.pdf?alt=media&token=b83c2041-df59-496b-8eec-7b79eecc5fa0
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F676ec6c45b76a80054c8383c%2FLGBTQIA%2B%20Pride%20Month%20Proclamation%202025.pdf?alt=media&token=b83c2041-df59-496b-8eec-7b79eecc5fa0


Memo for Proclamation Declaring June 2025 as LGBTQIA+ Month in Broomfield 

Prepared by: Vanessa Oldham-Barton, Director of Diversity, Equity and Organizational Development 

Summary 

View Correspondence 

View Presentation 

 

The City and County of Broomfield is a welcoming community and an exceptional place to live, learn, work, 

play, and raise a family. 

 

It is imperative that all people in the community feel valued, physically and psychologically safe, 

empowered, and supported by their peers, educators, and community leaders. 

 

To affirm Broomfield's commitment to inclusivity and equality for all residents, and to stand against 

discrimination and harassment based on sexual orientation or gender identity, Mayor Castriotta has officially 

proclaimed June 2025 as LGBTQIA Pride Month in our community. 

 

This proclamation reflects our ongoing dedication to creating a place where diversity is celebrated and 

where everyone's rights and contributions are honored. 

 

 

Financial Considerations 

N/A 

 

Prior Council or Other Entity Actions 

The month of June has been proclaimed LGBTQIA+ Pride Month in the City and County of Broomfield every 

year since 2019. 

 

Boards and Commissions Prior Actions and Recommendations 

N/A 

 

Proposed Actions / Recommendations 

N/A 

 

Alternatives 

N/A 

 Page 1 

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82


Proclamation
PROCLAMATION DECLARING JUNE 2025 AS LGBTQIA+ PRIDE MONTH

IN THE CITY AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD, COLORADO 

WHEREAS, The City and County of Broomfield is a welcoming community and an exceptional place to live, learn, 
work, play, and raise a family; and

WHEREAS, The City and County of Broomfield recognizes the importance of equity and freedom; and

WHEREAS, The City and County of Broomfield's LGBTQIA+ community are a vital part of Broomfield and contribute 
and inform a stronger community; and

WHEREAS, The City and County of Broomfield remains dedicated to fostering inclusion of all its residents and 
preventing discrimination and bullying based on sexual orientation, gender identity, and family makeup; 
and

WHEREAS, The City and County of Broomfield is strengthened by and thrives upon the rich intersectional diversity 
of ethnic, cultural, racial, gender and sexual identities of its residents; all of which contribute to the 
vibrant character and integrity of our City; and

WHEREAS, It is imperative that all people in the community, regardless of sexual orientation or gender identity, 
feel valued, physically and psychologically safe, empowered, and supported by their peers, educators, 
and community leaders; and

WHEREAS, Broomfield has made a commitment to advancing the equitable treatment of all residents as a 
welcoming community, we recognize the importance of upholding the truth that LGBTQIA+ rights are 
human rights

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Guyleen Castriotta, Mayor of the City and County of Broomfield, do hereby declare and 
proclaim June, 2025, as: 

LGBTQIA+ PRIDE MONTH IN BROOMFIELD

and I urge residents to recognize the contributions made by members of the LGBTQIA+ community and to actively 
promote the principles of equity and liberty

In witness whereof, I hereunto set my hand and official seal on this the 3rd day of June 2025.
 

 ____________________________________________
 Guyleen Castriotta
 Mayor
 



City and County of Broomfield

City Council Regular Meeting

B. Proclamation Declaring June 6, 2025 as National Gun Violence Awareness Day

Meeting

Tuesday, June 3, 2025, 6:00 PM

Agenda Group

Petitions and Communications Item: 2B.

Presented By

Jason Vahling

Community Goals

Overview

View Correspondence

Proclamation Declaring June 6, 2025 as National Gun Violence Awareness Day

 

Attachments

2025 Memo for Gun Violence Prevention Proclamation.pdf
2025 Gun Violence Awareness Day Proclamation.pdf

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68191e81af6c1d005df98f3a%2F2025%20Memo%20for%20Gun%20Violence%20Prevention%20Proclamation.pdf?alt=media&token=b390c312-38d9-4a5a-bd17-e613a83498e0
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68191e81af6c1d005df98f3a%2F2025%20Memo%20for%20Gun%20Violence%20Prevention%20Proclamation.pdf?alt=media&token=b390c312-38d9-4a5a-bd17-e613a83498e0
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68191e81af6c1d005df98f3a%2F2025%20Memo%20for%20Gun%20Violence%20Prevention%20Proclamation.pdf?alt=media&token=b390c312-38d9-4a5a-bd17-e613a83498e0
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68191e81af6c1d005df98f3a%2F2025%20Gun%20Violence%20Awareness%20Day%20Proclamation.pdf?alt=media&token=16d2694b-1eb6-4c69-8870-0a147a3fc554
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68191e81af6c1d005df98f3a%2F2025%20Gun%20Violence%20Awareness%20Day%20Proclamation.pdf?alt=media&token=16d2694b-1eb6-4c69-8870-0a147a3fc554
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68191e81af6c1d005df98f3a%2F2025%20Gun%20Violence%20Awareness%20Day%20Proclamation.pdf?alt=media&token=16d2694b-1eb6-4c69-8870-0a147a3fc554


Memo for 2025 National Gun Violence Awareness Day
Prepared By: Sarah Mauch

  

1

Summary
View   Correspondence  

It is the primary responsibility of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Colorado Department of Public 
Health and Environment (CDPHE), and local public health agencies to track intentional and unintentional injuries and 
deaths; research the best ways to prevent injuries and violence; implement effective strategies; and evaluate the  
impact of the prevention efforts. Based on these efforts, CDPHE has identified gun violence as a major public health 
issue, establishing the Office of Gun Violence Prevention in 2022. The purpose of the office is to coordinate and promote 
effective efforts to reduce gun violence and related traumas and promote research regarding causes of, and evidence-
based responses to, gun violence.

In 2023, there were 1,012 deaths due to firearms across the state - 70.8% of these deaths were due to suicide and 25.6% 
were due to homicide with a firearm. While there has been a decrease in overall deaths by firearms between 2022 and 
2023 (down by 21 deaths), there has been an increase in deaths due to suicide using firearms (27 deaths) during the same 
time period (Vital Statistics Program, CDPHE). 

From 2019 to 2023, there have been 35 total deaths due to firearms among Broomfield residents, with the vast majority 
of these deaths occurring among males (82.9%) (Vital Statistics Program, CDPHE). In  2019, there was a peak of 10 deaths 
followed by one death due to a firearm in 2020, 9 in 2021, 7 firearm deaths in 2022 and 8 in 2023 among Broomfield  
residents (Vital Statistics Program, CDPHE).

Addressing gun violence requires a comprehensive public health approach, including surveillance to track firearm-
related deaths and injuries, research to examine if existing or new interventions are effective, and community-based 
approaches and resources to expand mental health services and programs. 

In 2024, the Broomfield Police Department partnered with several local law enforcement agencies and the Criminal  
Justice Coordinating Council for “Free Gun Lock Week" from December 9-16. Residents were invited to stop by any of the 
participating agencies for a free gun lock. The Broomfield Police Department continues to have gun cable locks available 
by request only. A resident can request one by emailing bpd@broomfield.org or stopping by the lobby M-F from 8 am-5 
pm located at 7 DesCombes Drive. Additionally, on July 25, the BPD worked with Colorado’s 17th Judicial District 
Attorney’s Office and Good Samaritan Hospital to hand out hundreds of free gun safes to residents. 

Mayor Castriotta’s proclamation, which declares June 6, 2025, as the 7th Annual Gun Violence Awareness Day in 
Broomfield, is included as Attachment 1.

Financial Considerations

There are no financial considerations for this proclamation. 

Prior Council or Other Entity Actions

Prior Council Action 

2024 proclamation

2023 proclamation

2022 proclamation

2021 proclamation

2020 proclamation

Boards and Commissions Prior Actions and Recommendations

N/A

https://cdphe.colorado.gov/office-of-gun-violence-prevention
https://docs.google.com/document/d/12poccH2gISXT0Y9Pv8IfVTTcPr6KU6km4hQXXR-wqUc/edit?tab=t.0#heading=h.v5xcm6lrp150
mailto:bpd@broomfield.org
https://cohealthviz.dphe.state.co.us/t/PSDVIP-MHPPUBLIC/views/InjuryIndicatorsDashboard/InjuryDeathCounts?%3AshowAppBanner=false&%3Adisplay_count=n&%3AshowVizHome=n&%3Aorigin=viz_share_link&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y&%3Aembed=y
https://cohealthviz.dphe.state.co.us/t/PSDVIP-MHPPUBLIC/views/InjuryIndicatorsDashboard/InjuryDeathCounts?%3AshowAppBanner=false&%3Adisplay_count=n&%3AshowVizHome=n&%3Aorigin=viz_share_link&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y&%3Aembed=y
https://cohealthviz.dphe.state.co.us/t/HealthInformaticsPublic/views/COHIDDeathsDashboardAllYearsExcludesRace/DeathDashboardAllYearsexcludesrace?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1HeBQKz5yc4mTryYAQAz0Muen4rrw14nc?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1N6AvxnmX2qSNgNeVMF_eL0DdBcg0SsGe/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1aCicgSnwwgosO_Q3TY6m0AyUn7HAu5GJ/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1-RLsdS3nCJOJ8UfGWrlt5SKI88NFvNSE/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1SouC5ja2mkG7yG7qhrhFabEveMXaxscj/view
https://horizon.agendalink.app/engage/broomfield/minutes/65b1f39b2d1b21003548381d
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1HeBQKz5yc4mTryYAQAz0Muen4rrw14nc?usp=drive_link


2

Proposed Actions / Recommendations

N/A

Alternatives

N/A



 

 

 

 

 

Proclamation 
 

 

 

PROCLAMATION DECLARING June 6, 2025 AS  

Gun Violence Awareness Day  

  

 

WHEREAS,       In 2023, there were 1,012 deaths due to firearms across the state with 71% of these deaths  

due to suicide and the remaining deaths being homicides or accidental discharge of a firearm; 

and 

  

WHEREAS,       In 2023, there were 8 total deaths due to firearms among Broomfield residents, with the 

majority of these deaths occurring among males; and 

  

WHEREAS, Addressing gun violence requires a comprehensive public health approach, including 

surveillance to track firearm-related deaths and injuries, research to examine if existing or 

new interventions are effective, and community-based approaches and resources to expand 

mental health services and programs; 

  

WHEREAS,  In 2024, the Broomfield Police Department partnered with several local law enforcement 

agencies and the Criminal Justice Coordinating Council for “Free Gun Lock Week" from 

December 9-16. Residents were invited to stop by any of the participating agencies for a free 

gun lock. Additionally, on July 25, the BPD worked with Colorado’s 17th Judicial District 

Attorney’s Office and Good Samaritan Hospital to hand out hundreds of free gun safes to 

residents.  

  

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Guyleen Castriotta, Mayor of the City and County of Broomfield, do hereby declare and 

proclaim June 6, 2025 as: 

  

 

GUN VIOLENCE AWARENESS DAY IN BROOMFIELD 

  

 

In witness whereof, I hereunto set my hand and official seal on this the 3rd day of June 2025. 

  

 

 

 

 

  

      ____________________________________________ 

        Guyleen Castriotta 

        Mayor 

  
 

 



City and County of Broomfield

City Council Regular Meeting

A. Board of Equalization - Proposed Resolution for the Adoption of a Hearing Officer Recommendation for an
Abatement Petition

Meeting

Tuesday, June 3, 2025, 6:00 PM

Agenda Group

Consent Items Item: 6A.

Voted By Board

Board of Equalization - BOE

Presented By

Crystal Clemens, City Clerk

Community Goals

Overview

View Correspondence 

View Presentation

Resolution 2025-83-BOE approving Hearing Officer recommendation on an Abatement Petition

 

 

 

Attachments

Memo for Action on a BOE Abatement Petition.pdf
Resolution 2025-83-BOE.pdf

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F681bd8dbe3ff03005d7f757e%2FMemo%20for%20Action%20on%20a%20BOE%20Abatement%20Petition.pdf?alt=media&token=989bedb4-ab35-41d0-b926-4e6d223a7c1f
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F681bd8dbe3ff03005d7f757e%2FMemo%20for%20Action%20on%20a%20BOE%20Abatement%20Petition.pdf?alt=media&token=989bedb4-ab35-41d0-b926-4e6d223a7c1f
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F681bd8dbe3ff03005d7f757e%2FMemo%20for%20Action%20on%20a%20BOE%20Abatement%20Petition.pdf?alt=media&token=989bedb4-ab35-41d0-b926-4e6d223a7c1f
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F681bd8dbe3ff03005d7f757e%2FResolution%202025-83-BOE.pdf?alt=media&token=8f88e139-69de-4eec-80d2-531fbe3127f2
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F681bd8dbe3ff03005d7f757e%2FResolution%202025-83-BOE.pdf?alt=media&token=8f88e139-69de-4eec-80d2-531fbe3127f2
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F681bd8dbe3ff03005d7f757e%2FResolution%202025-83-BOE.pdf?alt=media&token=8f88e139-69de-4eec-80d2-531fbe3127f2


Memo for Action on Abatement Petitions 
Prepared By: Cathy Pai, Recording and Licensing Specialist 

        Jay Yamashita, Assessor 

Summary 

View Correspondence 

View Presentation 

 

 

Staff is requesting that Council, sitting as the Board of Equalization, approve action on an abatement 

petition.  

 

Abatements can be received at any time throughout the year, but the deadline for filing is the first working 

day in January within two years of the date the taxes were levied. As a result, Broomfield tends to see most 

abatements filed in late December to early January each year; however, petitions may be received at any 

time throughout the year. Pursuant to C.R.S. §39-1-113(1.7), every abatement or refund petition shall be 

acted upon within six months of the date of filing of the petition.     

 

The taxpayer identified below has filed an abatement petition alleging that their property has been 

overvalued or that their tax levy is illegal. Council appointed hearing officers with experience in property 

valuations to hear protest and abatement cases and make recommendations to City Council on such 

proceedings.   

 

In some instances the property owner or tax agent declines to participate in the hearing (also known as an 

“administrative denial”) and elect to forgo the hearing process understanding that the petition will be 

denied since no evidence was presented supporting the property owner’s position. The property owners and 

tax agents are willing to take an “administrative denial” because they still have an opportunity to appeal 

the decision to the State Board of Assessment appeals at the next level.   

 

On April 30, 2025, an abatement hearing was held by an appointed hearing officer.  After reviewing all of 

the evidence presented in the case, the hearing officer is recommending denial of the following petition:  

  

a. Petitioner Schedule No.: SONG,YING AND WU, XIAOQING R8865767 

 

The Assessor’s Office will continue to work with the petitioners as these items are appealed to the State 

Board of Assessment Appeals, but a formal action of the County Board of Equalization is required before the 

appeal to the next level may be granted.      

Financial Considerations 

While there is a financial implication to Broomfield with the adjustment of property valuations, the 

valuation of property is handled at the individual property level. The hearing officers are well versed in 

property valuation and will look at each property individually to determine the actual value of the taxable 

property based on Colorado statutes by using the appropriate valuation method - the cost approach, sales 

comparison (market) approach or income approach. The findings presented represent the individual 

assessment of each property, and not the overall impact to Broomfield’s finances.      

Prior Council or Other Entity Actions 

On February 13, 2024, Council approved Ordinance 2225 transferring the Board of Equalization (BOE) duties 

from a separate resident board to Council.  

 

On May 28, 2024, Council approved Resolution No. 2024-41-BOE confirming the appointment of existing 

hearing officers, appointing a new hearing officer and two new arbitrators.  

                 

Rev. 2/2025  Page 1 

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ypPr6CuZLh-o8q_Qnz4iGVUrPBZfDk20/view?usp=drive_link
https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/ordinances/municipal_code?nodeId=1274802
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ZFtmic6r_RScpbH0rKI3Mm5wGZajRbz8/view?usp=drivesdk


 

 

Boards and Commissions Prior Actions and Recommendations 

N/A 

 

Proposed Actions / Recommendations 

Staff recommends Council approve Resolution 2025-83-BOE to formally deny the above referenced 

abatement petition. To do so, the appropriate motion is… 

 

That Resolution 2025-83-BOE be adopted. 

 

Alternatives 

Do not adopt the Resolution. This is not advised and will result in Broomfield not meeting its statutory 

deadlines for these petitions.      

 

The City and County Attorney’s Office recommends that Council adopt the recommendation of the hearing 

officer as a final action of the Board of Equalization. The taxpayer will be notified of the decision and will 

have an opportunity to appeal this decision.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 2 



RESOLUTION NO. 2025-83-BOE 

A Resolution Denying A Certain Abatement Petition 

Recitals. 

Whereas, City Council sits as the Broomfield Board of Equalization; and 

Whereas, pursuant to C.R.S. §39-1-113 and §39-10-114, City Council appointed 

independent referees, or hearing officers, experienced in property valuation to conduct 

hearings on behalf of Broomfield’s board of equalization and submit final recommendations to 

Council for approval; and 

Whereas, the petitioner identified below has submitted a petition for abatement or 

refund for taxes alleging taxes have been levied erroneously or illegally, whether due to 

erroneous valuation for assessment, irregularity in levying, clerical error, or overvaluation and 

the petitioners have submitted evidence of the proposed value for the subject property;  

Whereas, on April 30, 2025 a hearing was conducted on the valuation of the remaining 

property at issue; and  

Whereas, the hearing officer made findings and a recommendation detailed below to 

Council.    

      Now, therefore, be it resolved by the City Council of the City and County of Broomfield, 

Colorado sitting as the Board of Equalization: 

Section 1.   

The findings and recommendation of the hearing officer on attached Exhibit A are hereby 

adopted by Council, and based on those recommendations, Council hereby denies the petition 

listed in Exhibit A. 

Section 2. 

This resolution is effective on the date of approval by the City Council of the City and County 

of Broomfield.  

 

Page 1 

 



 

 

Approved on June 3, 2025 

 

Board of Equalization 
 

 

        

Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

       

Office of the City and County Clerk 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

     NCR 

       

City and County Attorney 

 

 

Page 2 

 



Exhibit A 

Resolution 2025-83-BOE 

Denials 

 

1. Petitioner Schedule No.:  SONG,YING AND WU, XIAOQING R8865767 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 3 

 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ypPr6CuZLh-o8q_Qnz4iGVUrPBZfDk20/view?usp=drive_link


City and County of Broomfield

City Council Regular Meeting

B. Proposed Resolution Google Fiber Master License Agreement (Fiber to Home)

Meeting

Tuesday, June 3, 2025, 6:00 PM

Agenda Group

Consent Items Item: 6B.

Presented By

Katie Allen

Community Goals

☑ Financial Sustainability and Resilience ☑ Thriving, Diverse, Safe and Welcoming Community

Overview

View Correspondence 

 

Google Fiber of Colorado, LLC (Google Fiber) is requesting a Master License Agreement to install fiber-to-home
infrastructure within Broomfield rights-of-way.  

Federal law and state law provide some guidance on the City’s ability to regulate the services Google Fiber desires
to provide. In accordance with Section 253 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, federal law requires that no
state or local statute or regulation may prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the ability of any entity to provide
any interstate or intrastate telecommunications services. Moreover, Colorado state law, C.R.S. § 38-5.5-101 et seq,
mirrors federal law and requires that access to rights-of-way and oversight of that access must be competitively
neutral (i.e. the City can’t favor or disfavor any particular provider) with respect to the City’s regulations of
companies in this area. The City still does retain the ability to use our police power to enforce our rules on the use
of the right-of-way which are established in Chapter 14-10 of the Broomfield Municipal Code that has been in effect
since 2000. 

Further, City regulations under Section 14-10-060 (A) of the Broomfield Municipal Code require approval of the City
Council to use and occupy Broomfield right-of-way.  Chapter 14-10 of the Broomfield Municipal Code regulates the
use of public rights-of-way by requiring private users who construct, excavate, and work in Broomfield’s rights-of-
way to obtain Broomfield’s permission to do so. Chapter 14-10 provides for a permit application, insurance and
indemnification by users, standards for repair and restoration, and fees and charges.

 

 

 

 

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m


Attachments

Google Fiber Master License Agreement Memo.pdf
Resolution 2025-86 Google Fiber Master License Agreement.pdf
Google Fiber - Master License Agreement.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67ffc565f87eb900462e489c%2FGoogle%20Fiber%20Master%20License%20Agreement%20Memo.pdf?alt=media&token=9cb2b0ee-fbb8-4d2a-8e9b-d7b84b812510
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67ffc565f87eb900462e489c%2FGoogle%20Fiber%20Master%20License%20Agreement%20Memo.pdf?alt=media&token=9cb2b0ee-fbb8-4d2a-8e9b-d7b84b812510
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67ffc565f87eb900462e489c%2FGoogle%20Fiber%20Master%20License%20Agreement%20Memo.pdf?alt=media&token=9cb2b0ee-fbb8-4d2a-8e9b-d7b84b812510
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67ffc565f87eb900462e489c%2FResolution%202025-86%20Google%20Fiber%20Master%20License%20Agreement.pdf?alt=media&token=d20cc38d-0e6c-4971-b104-0225c07164df
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67ffc565f87eb900462e489c%2FResolution%202025-86%20Google%20Fiber%20Master%20License%20Agreement.pdf?alt=media&token=d20cc38d-0e6c-4971-b104-0225c07164df
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67ffc565f87eb900462e489c%2FResolution%202025-86%20Google%20Fiber%20Master%20License%20Agreement.pdf?alt=media&token=d20cc38d-0e6c-4971-b104-0225c07164df
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67ffc565f87eb900462e489c%2FGoogle%20Fiber%20-%20Master%20License%20Agreement.pdf?alt=media&token=3f542570-8571-4027-9ba1-4a5cc25341c8
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67ffc565f87eb900462e489c%2FGoogle%20Fiber%20-%20Master%20License%20Agreement.pdf?alt=media&token=3f542570-8571-4027-9ba1-4a5cc25341c8
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67ffc565f87eb900462e489c%2FGoogle%20Fiber%20-%20Master%20License%20Agreement.pdf?alt=media&token=3f542570-8571-4027-9ba1-4a5cc25341c8


Fiber Optics Master License Agreement for Google Fiber Colorado LLC
Prepared By: Matthew Deaver

Summary
View Correspondence

Google Fiber of Colorado, LLC (Google Fiber) is requesting a Master License Agreement to install fiber-to-
home infrastructure within Broomfield rights-of-way. 

Federal law and state law provide some guidance on the City’s ability to regulate the services Google Fiber 
desires to provide. In accordance with Section 253 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, federal law 
requires that no state or local statute or regulation may prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the ability 
of any entity to provide any interstate or intrastate telecommunications services. Moreover, Colorado state 
law, C.R.S. § 38-5.5-101 et seq, mirrors federal law and requires that access to rights-of-way and oversight 
of that access must be competitively neutral (i.e. the City can’t favor or disfavor any particular provider) 
with respect to the City’s regulations of companies in this area. The City still retains the ability to use our 
police power to enforce our rules on the use of the right-of-way, which are established in Chapter 14-10 of 
the Broomfield Municipal Code that has been in effect since 2000. 

Further, City regulations under Section 14-10-060 (A) of the Broomfield Municipal Code require approval of 
the City Council to use and occupy Broomfield’s right-of-way.  Chapter 14-10 of the Broomfield Municipal 
Code regulates the use of public rights-of-way by requiring private users who construct, excavate, and work 
in Broomfield’s rights-of-way to obtain Broomfield’s permission to do so. Chapter 14-10 provides for a 
permit application, insurance and indemnification by users, standards for repair and restoration, and fees 
and charges.

Broomfield has previously approved telecommunications infrastructure to be installed within the public 
rights-of-way. These previous installations were approved by Council through a revocable permit and the 
installations have included fiber backbone infrastructure and connections to specific facilities.

More recently, Broomfield has been approached by multiple new internet service providers who are 
interested in constructing fiber-to-home infrastructure to provide broadband services to residents and, in 
some cases, businesses within Broomfield. Fiber internet is typically faster than cable internet and would 
provide additional internet provider options for Broomfield residents and businesses within Broomfield. 
Under C.R.S. § 38-5.5-101 et seq, telecommunications providers have the right to occupy and utilize the 
public rights-of-way, and municipalities must provide equal access to rights-of-way for telecommunication 
providers.

The revocable permit form of agreement that was previously used and approved is not ideal for what is 
being proposed with fiber-to-home. In order to facilitate the orderly installation of fiber-to-home 
infrastructure, staff has created a standard Master License Agreement template for any entity desiring to 
construct such fiber facilities in Broomfield. Broomfield worked with Ken Fellman with Wilson Williams 
Fellman Dittman in Louisville because he has extensive experience in this field and has negotiated these 
types of agreements with other municipalities. Staff customized the agreement from Mr. Fellman to better 
fit Broomfield’s exact needs. All of the master license agreements will be substantially similar and all 
providers will have equal access to the right-of-way, but staff will have the ability to limit or regulate 
facilities in areas where existing utilities already exist or where there is no more room for additional 
utilities in a corridor. In those instances, staff will assist providers with finding alternate (less crowded) 
routes to provide the services. The master license agreement may be terminated by the City if the provider 
materially breaches the agreement. 

Google Fiber currently intends to construct infrastructure across all of Broomfield. This Master License 
Agreement approves phased installation throughout the City. The exact location and phasing of the 
improvements will be defined by future Site License Agreements, which incorporates all of the terms of the 
  

Page 1

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m


Fiber Optics Master License Agreement for Google Fiber Colorado LLC
Prepared By: Matthew Deaver

Master License Agreement and will include a map of the locations for the fiber facilities, that will be 
reviewed and approved by the City and County Engineer. Google Fiber will be applying to Broomfield for 
permits to construct specific phases/areas.

Unlike the previous four fiber companies that have obtained a Master License Agreement, Google Fiber is 
planning on using shallow trenching to install their infrastructure instead of directional boring.  Specific 
details for the shallow trenching requirements have been included within the Master License Agreement 
because it is a construction method that has not been used in Broomfield previously. Shallow trenching 
consists of constructing a 2” wide and minimum 8” deep trench along the edge of roadways, placing the 
fiber at the bottom of the trench, and backfilling the trench with appropriate roadway pavement. Google 
Fiber prefers shallow trenching methods because it allows their construction crews to install their 
infrastructure faster than traditional boring methods and, because of the shallow depth, it presents less risk 
to existing utilities. Conversely, the shallow installation has more potential to be impacted by asphalt 
remediation operations such as roadway patching. Per the Master License Agreement, Google Fiber is 
indemnifying the City of any damages to the Google Fiber infrastructure due to roadway maintenance 
operations. Staff has coordinated with and visited other jurisdictions that have approved shallow trenching 
installation methods to understand the construction process, recommended requirements, and future 
maintenance concerns. Each fiber-to-home company was given the opportunity to use shallow trenching 
methods, but only Google Fiber has chosen to use this method at this time. Applications will be submitted 
for Public/Private Improvement Permits for the work. An insurance certificate will be provided.

Broomfield IT staff remains focused on the design and construction of a secure, redundant internal network 
to serve Broomfield’s assets including buildings, wastewater lift stations, water pump stations, and traffic 
signals. This Broomfield-owned communication network will also be the backbone for a variety of software 
and the Internet of Things (IoT) delivering connected solutions to City buildings and assets. Additionally, the 
design and build-out of the City’s backbone infrastructure includes additional facilities intended to provide 
opportunities for future lease options with internet service providers to potentially provide a revenue 
stream to help offset the City’s internal costs. 

Broomfield will work with Google Fiber to add extra conduit along several segments to be owned by 
Broomfield for future fiber optic cable installation in accordance with Broomfield’s Fiber Infrastructure 
Master Plan in accordance with B.M.C. §14-10-120(F) and (G).

Since fiber installation in neighborhoods has generated some community interest and questions, Community 
Development will have an informational page by mid-July that has a map of areas where each company is 
working and that explains:

● The City and County of Broomfield is only involved in approving a Master License Agreement for each 
company, permit approval for construction, and right-of-way inspections during construction.

● The City does not have the authority to dictate when and where the networks install their fiber 
infrastructure, or which customers they serve.

● Residents should direct project-specific questions to the relevant company working in their area.
● Each company is required to provide notification by way of door hangers to impacted residents 48 

hours before construction.
● Utility location marking may occur without prior notification, as this precedes the construction phase 

and this work does not typically require a permit. Community Development has requested each fiber-
to-home company provide notification in the future prior to conducting utility markings.

This information should help clarify Broomfield’s role in these private infrastructure projects. While the 
Engineering Division remains available for general process questions, staff recommends that contractor or 

Page 2



Fiber Optics Master License Agreement for Google Fiber Colorado LLC
Prepared By: Matthew Deaver

company specific concerns should go directly to those companies.

Financial Considerations

Google Fiber of Colorado, LLC (Google Fiber) is required to pay Broomfield a $500 application fee and 
applicable permit fees.

Prior Council or Other Entity Actions

This is the first Master License Agreement for a company to install fiber-to-home infrastructure using 
shallow trenching methods. 

This is the fifth Master License Agreement for a company to install fiber-to-home infrastructure. The 
following Master License Agreements for installing fiber-to-home infrastructure were previously authorized 
by City Council:

On August 13, 2024 Council approved Resolution No. 2024-63 for a Master License Agreement for HyperFiber 
of Colorado, LLC (HyperFiber)

On August 13, 2024 Council approved Resolution No. 2024-99 for a Master License Agreement for BIF IV 
Intrepid OPCO, LLC (Intrepid).

On October 1, 2024 Council approved Resolution No. 2024-135 for a Master License Agreement for Vero 
Broadband, LLC (Vero)

On November 12, 2024 Council approved Resolution No. 2024-51 for a Master License Agreement for Metro 
Fibernet, LLC (Metronet)

Boards and Commissions Prior Actions and Recommendations

N/A

Proposed Actions / Recommendations

If Council desires to approve the Master License Agreement, the appropriate motion is…

That Resolution 2025-86 be adopted.

Alternatives

Do not approve the agreement. 

Page 3

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1T1E84JHlXao1KXMe_OfKsT3y-QFZfguZ/view?usp=drivesdk
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1En4aHq9E-48Zhv855t8P812oc-iZRdoV/view?usp=drivesdk
https://drive.google.com/file/d/16-qvORFoXtQ3CU03vTwA2WelJRtpVm5D/view?usp=drivesdk
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1AI7njaJwxdKa0Oxi3ptmW6eVUU9EM3pz/view


RESOLUTION NO. 2025-86

A resolution approving a Master License Agreement by and between the City and County of 
Broomfield and Google Fiber Colorado, LLC

Be it resolved by the City Council of the City and County of Broomfield, Colorado:

Section 1. 
The Master License Agreement by and between the City and County of Broomfield and Google 
Fiber Colorado, LLC to use rights-of-way for fiber optic services is hereby approved.

Section 2.
The Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem is authorized to sign and the City and County Clerk is authorized 
to attest the Master License Agreement in form approved by the City and County Attorney.

Section 3.
This resolution is effective upon its approval by the City Council.

Approved on June 3, 2025

The City and County of Broomfield, Colorado

Mayor

Attest:

Office of the City and County Clerk
Approved as to form:

KKH

City and County Attorney

Page 1
Revised 5/2025



MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR FIBER OPTIC NETWORK BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY AND 
COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD AND GOOGLE FIBER COLORADO LLC 

This Master License Agreement (this “Agreement”), dated as of the _3_ day of 
___June____________, 2025 (the “Effective Date”), is entered into by and between 
the City and County of Broomfield, a Colorado home rule municipality and county (the 
“City”), and Google Fiber Colorado LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (the 
“Company”), each a “Party”, and collectively, the “Parties”. 

RECITALS 

A. The City holds good and valid title to the Public Rights-of-Way (“ROW”), 
as defined in Section 1.7 below, throughout the City and desires to protect and 
preserve the ROW. The City further maintains police power authority to regulate 
access to and use of the ROW in a manner that protects the public health, safety, and 
welfare, consistent with Applicable Law.  

B. The Company is in the business of providing Services to its customers 
through fiber-based telecommunications and broadband networks, including the 
Network (as defined in Section 1.6 below) to be installed in the City, in accordance 
with regulations promulgated by the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) and 
pursuant to this Agreement.   

C. For purposes of operating the Network, the Company wishes to locate, 
place, attach, install, operate, control, and maintain Equipment, as defined in Section 
1.4 below, in the Public Rights-of-Way in the locations detailed in Supplemental Sites 
Licenses, a sample of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

D. The City desires to grant to the Company a non-exclusive license 
(“License”) for the above-stated purpose, upon the terms and conditions contained 
below, and in accordance with Applicable Law. 

AGREEMENT 

In consideration of the mutual covenants and promises of the Parties contained 
herein, and other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 
hereby acknowledged, the City hereby grants to the Company, with respect to such 
interest as the City may have in the ROW, the authorization to install, construct, 
operate, maintain, repair, inspect, remove and replace the Equipment in, under, or 
along the ROW, subject to the following conditions: 

1. Definitions.  The following definitions shall apply generally to the provisions of
this Agreement:

1.1. “Applicable Law” means any statute, ordinance, judicial decision,
order (including, without limitation, FCC orders), executive order or 
regulation having the force and effect of law that determines the legal 
standing of a case or issue. 

1.2. “Claims” means (1) losses, liabilities, costs and expenses of any sort, 
including reasonable attorneys’ fees; (2) fines and penalties; (3) 
environmental costs, including, but not limited to, investigation, 

Page 1 
Updated 5/1/2024 



removal, remedial, and restoration costs, and consultant and other 
reasonable fees and expenses; and (4) any and all other reasonably 
related costs or expenses. 

1.3. “Equipment” means electronics equipment, transmission equipment, 
shelters, conduit, coaxial cables, mounts, generators, containment 
structures, hangers, pull boxes, conduit, pedestals, brackets, fiber optic 
cable and other accessories and component equipment related to the 
operation of the Company’s Network. 

1.4. “Hazardous Substance” means any substance or material defined or 
designated, or other similar term by any Applicable Law presently in 
effect or promulgated in the future, as such laws, regulations or rules 
may be amended from time to time; and it shall be interpreted to 
include without limitation any substance which after release into the 
environment will or may reasonably be anticipated to cause sickness, 
death or disease. 

1.5. “Network” or collectively “Networks” means one or more of the 
neutral-host, broadband communication or telecommunication systems 
operated by the Company to serve its customers in the City. 

1.6. “Public Rights-of-Way,” “Public ROW” or “ROW” means the space in, 
upon, above, along, across, and below the public streets, roads, 
highways, lanes, courts, ways, alleys, boulevards, sidewalks and bicycle 
lanes as the same now or may hereafter exist, that are under the 
jurisdiction of the City. This term shall not include City parkland, trails, 
state or federal rights-of-way, or any property owned by any person or 
entity other than the City, except as provided by Applicable Law or 
pursuant to an agreement between the City and any such person or 
entity. 

1.7. “Services” means the telecommunications or broadband services 
provided through the Network by the Company to its customers. 
Services also includes the lease of the Network, or any portion thereof, 
to another person or entity, or the provision of capacity or bandwidth on 
the Network to another person or entity, provided that the Company at 
all times retains exclusive control over the Network and remains 
responsible for locating, servicing, repairing, relocating, or removing its 
Network pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

1.8. “Standards” means the current version of the Broomfield Standards and 
Specifications. 

2. Term.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the Effective Date and shall
extend for a term of ten (10) years from the date it has been executed by both
Parties, unless it is earlier terminated by either Party in accordance with the
provisions herein. Provided, however, that if the Company has not made a good
faith effort to commence the design and engineering of the Company’s Network
within two (2) years of the Effective Date of this Agreement, this Agreement
may be terminated by the City, in its sole discretion, upon ninety (90) days
written notice. This Agreement will be automatically extended for additional
terms of ten (10) years from the expiration date of the current term, unless

Page 2 
Updated 5/1/2024 



either Party notifies the other in writing of its desire to not exercise this 
automatic extension (and enter renewal negotiations) at least three (3) years 
before the expiration of the then current term. Notwithstanding the expiration 
of this Agreement, and so as long as the Parties are negotiating in good faith, 
and until such time as either a new agreement has been reached or the City 
has determined not to renew this Agreement, the Company shall have the right 
to continue to occupy and use the ROW pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement. 

3. Scope of Agreement. All rights expressly granted to the Company under this
Agreement, which shall be exercised at the Company’s sole cost and expense,
shall be subject to Applicable Law. All rights expressly granted to the Company
under this Agreement shall be subject to the City’s lawful exercise of its police
powers and the prior and continuing right of the City under Applicable Law to
use any parts of the Public ROW, exclusively or concurrently with any other
person or entity and shall be further subject to all deeds, easements,
dedications, conditions, covenants, restrictions, leases, licenses, permits,
franchises, encumbrances, and claims of title of record which may affect the
Public ROW. Except with respect to the License granted herein, nothing in this
Agreement shall be deemed to grant convey, create, or vest in the Company a
real property interest in land, including any fee, leasehold interest, or
easement. Any work performed pursuant to the rights granted under this
Agreement shall be subject to, and conform with, Applicable Law. Nothing in
this Agreement shall be deemed to grant a franchise, nor permit the City to
collect a franchise fee. This Agreement does not grant any authority to utilize
the Public ROW to construct a cable system, provide cable or other video
programming services, construct a wireless communications facility, deploy
wireless communications facilities in the ROW, or provide wireless
communications services. The Company acknowledges that the City has made
no warranties or representations regarding the fitness or suitability of any ROW
for the installation or operation of the Equipment and the Company shall
accept the Property AS IS. Any performance of work or costs incurred by the
Company contemplated under this Agreement is at the Company’s sole risk.
The Company understands there is risk involved in placing the Equipment
within the Public ROW and hereby releases the City, and its agents and
employees, from any liability for any damage to the Equipment that may be
caused by the City’s construction or maintenance operations, or any other
reason, and from any liability for any injury or damage incurred by the
Company in its use of the Equipment within the Public ROW.

3.1. City Use. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the City currently
uses and intends to continue to the use the ROW for road purposes, and 
the rights granted to the Company for use of the ROW are subject to the 
rights of the City to use the property for a public road, sidewalk, 
shoulder, snow or material storage, drainage, water, wastewater, 
network, and other utilities or such other purposes as permitted by law 
which the City expressly reserves. In the event the City desires use of 
the ROW where the Equipment exists for future improvement projects, 
the City shall be under no obligation to pay to the Company any 
damages for removal or relocation of the Equipment and the Company 
shall relocate or remove such Equipment in accordance with the terms 
of this Agreement as more particularly set forth below.  

Page 3 
Updated 5/1/2024 



3.2. Third Party Use. If Company’s then-existing Equipment would interfere 
with a third-party’s use of the ROW, the third-party may be required to 
pay for Licensee’s costs to relocate its Equipment except to the extent 
such relocation is required pursuant to B.M.C. 14-10-190 as amended, 
then the Licensee shall bear such cost. The intent here is to comply 
with the City’s ordinance relating to locating facilities which shall be at 
no cost to the City, other public agency or special district.   

4. Construction. The Company intends to install its Network at the locations to be 
approved by the City and submitted as a request for Supplemental Site License. 
The Company shall be required to obtain a Supplemental Site License, in 
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, and any permits required 
from the City for the installation of the Equipment (currently referred to as a 
Public/Private Improvement Permit (PPIP)) for each Equipment location or to 
perform any excavation or other work in the Public ROW in connection with its 
Network deployment. The Company shall use the form attached as Exhibit A 
prior to beginning construction in conjunction with the City’s standard 
application for work within the ROW for the initial construction. The City will 
authorize the Company to commence construction with the grant of a 
Supplemental Site License and the provision of all necessary permits for the 
work within the ROW. The City’s granting or approval applicable to such 
licenses and permits shall not be unreasonably, withheld, conditioned, or 
delayed. Supplemental Site Licenses shall be approved administratively by staff 
and signed by the City Engineer. The intent of the Parties is that the 
Supplement Site License will show a larger area of where the Equipment is 
anticipated to be installed generally, with the individual permits for ROW 
construction providing more detail as to the exact location and manner of 
construction. Pursuant to the Standards, any person performing work that 
requires a permit shall obtain a Contractor’s License as set forth in Broomfield 
Municipal Code Chapter 15.32. If the Company’s construction requires any 
deviation in any manner from the approved plans, the Company shall notify and 
obtain prior written approval from the City for any changes in advance of any 
construction or alteration. The Company shall pay for and repair, at its sole 
expense, any damage to existing facilities located on the Public ROW, whether 
owned by the City or others, that occurs as a result of the Company’s 
construction or alteration of the Equipment in a timely manner.    

4.1. Obtaining Required Permits. If the attachment, installation, operation, 
maintenance, or location of the Equipment meets any of the criteria for 
a permit per the Standards, the Company shall apply for the appropriate 
permits and pay any standard and customary permit fees. The City shall 
respond to the Company’s requests for permits in the ordinary course of 
its business and shall otherwise cooperate with the Company in 
facilitating the deployment of the Network in the Public ROW in a 
reasonable and timely manner, provided that, the City may withhold a 
permit if the Company has outstanding permits that are not diligently 
being completed in the sole and absolute discretion of the City, or the 
City does not have adequate staffing to manage the permit requests 
currently in process with the City. As a condition of obtaining any permit 
that involves digging or other excavation in the Public ROW, the 
Company shall comply with all documents and processes set forth in the 
Standards unless otherwise specified by the City Engineer and at a 

   
Page 4 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



minimum, as part of its permit application submittal materials, identify 
on its fiber plan and profile set the following information:  

4.1.1. All pothole and boring locations, the boring and installation 
method for its Equipment, number and size of conduits, cover 
depth of conduit, dimension clearance from the proposed 
conduit and existing utilities.  

4.1.2. The horizontal and vertical locations of any other existing 
underground utility or other facilities in the Public ROW in the 
proximity of the proposed work area, in accordance with state 
laws for subsurface utility engineering and any additional City 
requirements, and what work will be self-performed and what 
work, if any, will be performed by subcontractors.  

4.1.3. For each permit request, the Company shall provide 
construction drawings for review by the City, that identifies all 
existing and proposed utilities, identifies the location of all 
Equipment to be installed (including the equipment shelters, 
cables, conduit, pull boxes, pedestals, fiber runs, point of 
demarcation, electrical distribution panel, electric meter, 
electrical conduit and cabling, and all other associated 
equipment), ROW limits, existing or proposed easements, 
existing trees, fences, and other above ground improvements, 
traffic control signs and equipment, any other existing 
improvements, where the installation will occur (back of 
sidewalk, in the paved surface of the roadway), a profile with 
potholed locations of existing utility crossings (including fiber, 
water, sanitary sewer, and stormwater lines), a plan for 
conducting emergency repairs and all anticipated, expected 
restoration work. Where applicable, the design documents 
shall include specifications on design and ADA compliance. 

4.1.4. If revisions to the construction drawings are required by the 
City, the Company shall provide revised drawings for review 
until final approval. The Company shall then include the final 
construction drawings with the appropriate permit application. 
The Company shall be allowed to seek permits year-round and 
all permits will expire as defined by the Standards. All work 
associated with a permit must be completed, including all 
restoration of pavement, sidewalks, landscaping, and other 
items, before a permit can be closed. 

4.1.5. Plans shall show the Company’s drawings of Equipment as 
compiled in accordance with the City’s current practices and 
procedures as they are in effect from time to time, as well as 
any information required by Applicable Law.  

4.1.6. “As-Built” drawings and design files with respect to the 
Equipment will be provided to the City as provided in the 
Record Drawings Section of Standards. 

4.2. Obtaining Required Permits Using Shallow/Micro (“Shallow”) 

   
Page 5 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



Trenching. The City currently does not have separate standards and 
specifications for the installation of Equipment using shallow, or micro, 
trenching techniques. As a result, in addition to the applicable 
requirements set forth in Section 4.1, the following standards shall 
apply for all shallow, or micro, trenching work within the City. In any 
case where the Shallow trenching requirements of Section 4.2 conflicts 
with other sections of this Agreement or the Standards, this Section 4.2 
shall govern.  

4.2.1. Street cut fees included in the permit application for shallow 
trenching will be published by the City, as amended from time 
to time, and generally applicable to providers constructing in 
the ROW. 

4.2.2. Construction drawings for shallow trench installations are not 
required to show profiles at crossings with Broomfield utilities. 
All existing utilities in the project area shall be shown in plan 
view. 

4.2.3. Total minimum cover over the fiber within the shallow trench 
shall be eight-inches (8”). The actual cover shall depend on the 
roadway type and will follow the “Shallow Trench - Single” 
detail in Exhibit C.    

4.2.4. Restoration of the roadway following shallow trench 
installations shall follow the details provided in Exhibit C. 

4.2.5. A maximum of two (2) shallow trenches with fiber shall be 
allowed to be constructed on a single side of a roadway. 

4.2.6. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
install all fiber lines within a shallow trench with a minimum 
five-foot (5’) horizontal separation from all Broomfield water, 
sewer, and storm lines.  

4.2.7. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
install all fiber service lines with a minimum five-foot (5’) 
horizontal separation from all other utility service lines.  

4.2.8. The Company shall pay for and repair, at its sole expense, 
damage to its Equipment installed less than five feet from 
other utility service lines, where such damage results from 
being fewer than five feet horizontally from other utility 
service lines; except to the extent such damages or injuries are 
caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of other 
parties. 

4.2.9. The Company will coordinate with the City and notify Public 
Works when installations are complete so that the City can 
follow their construction teams in sealing the ROW.  The City 
will notify the Company of locations, through utility locates, 
that the City will be doing work near the Company’s facilities 
where the facilities may be hit.   

   
Page 6 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



4.3. Location of Equipment. Potholes, analysis of as-built drawings, or 
investigation of existing utility infrastructure must be performed so any 
conflicts with existing utilities (including fiber, water, sanitary sewer, 
and stormwater lines) are to be shown in the profile view of the 
drawings to be approved by the City. Prior to construction on each 
permit, the Company and its contractors must physically identify the 
locations of existing underground utilities within the path of 
construction via potholing. Potholes must be filled according to the 
current Standards. GIS data on the utilities and pipe material, if it can 
be visually identified, shall be updated on the engineering plans and 
as-built drawings. In relation to other utilities, all Equipment shall be 
placed according to the Standards. All Equipment shall be placed 
underground or, if approved by the City, via attachment to existing 
utility poles in compliance with the pole owner process for attachment. 
Any Equipment proposed to be located above ground must be screened 
in the manner approved by the City and the approval of the entity 
responsible for the maintenance of the property on which the 
Equipment is located. 

4.4. Obtaining Required Permits for Maintenance and Repair Work. The 
Company, at its sole cost and expense, shall maintain the Equipment 
that is visible to the public in good condition and repair, and perform 
any necessary maintenance functions. The Company will promptly 
respond to City requests to maintain Equipment that the City believes is 
in disrepair. The same process as described in Section 4.1 and 4.2, as 
applicable, shall be followed for work within the Public ROW relating to 
the repair or maintenance of the Network after installation; provided, 
that, a new Supplemental Site License will not be required after the 
initial installation of the Equipment, but any other necessary permits 
and performance guarantees for the performance of the work shall be 
secured as provided herein or in the Standards.   

4.5. Fees.  The Company shall apply for the appropriate permits and pay any 
standard and customary permit fees. In the event that the staffing 
levels are not sufficient to process Supplement Site Licensee and/or 
related permits for work in the ROW, whether due to City staffing levels 
or the number of permits being requested within the City, the City may 
notify the Company of its ability to add additional staffing capacity 
through the use of third party contractors. In such an event, the City 
shall notify the Company of the option to use third party contractors, 
and in such event the Company desires to pay the additional cost of 
third party consultants for the Supplement Site License and permit 
review and inspection work, the Company shall agree to pay the City 
any costs that the City incurs for such third party review, plus a 5% 
administrative review fee, less the applicable fees collected pursuant to 
the City’s permit fee schedule had the work been performed by City 
staff. In such event, the Company shall reimburse the City for all costs 
and expenses associated with the third party review activities. The City 
shall provide invoicing to the Company documenting such costs which 
shall be due and payable within 21 calendar days of receipt to the City. 
The City will in turn use such funds to pay the third party consultants 
upon receipt. The purpose of this provision is to allow the City to 

   
Page 7 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



recover its actual costs for plan review, engineering and surveying 
review, and for construction observation, inspection and materials 
testing. If the Company elects not to pay for the additional costs, the 
City shall review the Supplement Site License and necessary permits in 
the ordinary course of business and shall not charge any additional fees, 
but the Company acknowledges that time for review may be extended 
in such an event which is not unreasonable.    

4.6. Public Infrastructure Security. In accordance with the Standard’s 
performance guarantee requirements, the Company shall provide 
financial security, in the form of letter of credit (in a form approved by 
the City) or cash deposit, for the cost to repair or reconstruct all public 
infrastructure anticipated to be required with any Supplemental Site 
License or ROW permit and the cost of any third-party contractors (as 
described in Section 4.5 above) engaged by the City in conjunction with 
the services provided herein. Rather than complete a new performance 
guarantee for each permit issued, the City and the Company may 
mutually agree upon an amount of a performance guarantee sufficient 
to cover the costs of the work anticipated to occur within the City for 
one calendar year; the Parties mutually agree that for calendar year 
2025 a $150,000 performance guarantee will cover the cost of the work 
to be performed, in future years an email with a cost estimate 
identifying the amount of the performance guarantee mutually agreed 
upon by the Parties for the calendar year is sufficient documentation for 
purposes of this Agreement. If no agreement is reached relating to the 
amount of the performance guarantee, the amount set forth in the 
Standard’s for each permit shall be required. The Company shall provide 
such security in the approved form and amount prior to issuance of any 
required construction permit. When all required repairs or 
reconstruction of public infrastructure have been completed in 
accordance with City Standards, the City shall release the performance 
guarantee back to the Company in accordance with the Standards. 

4.6.1. Warranty. The Company, or its contractor, shall warranty any 
of its work in the ROW for possible replacement or repairs for a 
period of two (2) years after completion of the work under a 
ROW permit. The performance guarantee shall remain in place 
even upon the completion of the work if additional permits are 
issued or anticipated to be issued. Only when no additional 
permits are outstanding and no additional work is 
contemplated by the Parties shall the performance guarantee 
be reduced as set forth in the Standards.    

4.7. Utility Notification Center. The Company shall contact the Utility 
Notification Center of Colorado, https://www.colorado811.org/, for 
location of any underground utilities, and locate the Equipment as 
required. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
coordinate with the City and any affected utilities to undertake 
locations in accordance with the policies of each entity. 

4.8. Damages to Other Utilities. To the extent that Company or any of its 
contractors cause damage to other utility facilities (including network, 
water, sanitary sewer, and stormwater lines), if there is damage caused 

Page 8 
Updated 5/1/2024 



to any major facility, at the discretion of the City, all construction 
within the City shall cease in order to allow the affected utilities to 
have the damage repaired. Any contractor of the Company that causes 
damage to another utility’s facilities may be forbidden by the City from 
doing any further work under this Agreement. Should a stop work order 
be issued as a result of any damage caused by the Company or any of its 
contractors, such stop work order may not be lifted until such time as 
all damaged parties have been fully compensated for their actual 
damages incurred. See also Damages and Restoration below.   

4.9. Public Engagement. Prior to beginning any work to install, maintain or 
repair its Network in the Public ROW, the Company shall first notify 
residents of the work (via door hangers) a minimum of 48 hours in 
advance of performing the work and the language on the door hangers 
must be approved by the City all as set forth in the Interruption of 
Services Section of the Standards.  

4.10. General Warranty. The Company warrants that all Equipment installed 
by it shall be in accordance with: (a) generally accepted professional 
practices and the level of competency presently maintained by others in 
the same or similar type of work, and in compliance with the City 
municipal code and any regulations promulgated thereunder (“City 
Regulations”); (b) the plans and specifications provided by the Company 
to the City and approved by the City (the “Plans”); and (c) the same 
standards that the Company applies to construction of its own facilities.  

4.11. Non-Liability. The Company acknowledges that the City’s review and 
approval of the Plans for the Equipment is done in furtherance of the 
general public health, safety, and welfare and that no specific 
relationship with, or duty of care to the Company or third parties is 
assumed by such review approval. 

5. Relocation of Equipment. The Company understands and acknowledges that 
City may require the Company to relocate one or more of its Equipment 
installations horizontally or vertically. The Company shall at City’s direction 
relocate such Equipment, at the Company’s sole cost and expense, not later 
than ninety (90) days (except in the case of an emergency) after receiving 
written notice that the City determines that the relocation is needed. In any 
such case, the City shall use its best efforts (but shall not be required to incur 
financial costs) to afford the Company a reasonably equivalent alternate 
location. If the Company shall fail to relocate any Equipment as requested by 
the City within a reasonable time from the date of the notification, but in no 
event later than three working days prior to the date the City has notified the 
Company that it, or another public agency or special district intends to 
commence its work, or, in the case of emergencies, immediately, the City or its 
agent, public agency or special district completing the work, shall be entitled 
to relocate the Equipment at the Company’s sole cost and expense, without 
further notice to the Company and may invoice the Company for such expenses 
which shall be paid promptly by the Company.  

6. Modification of Supplement Site License Prior to Installation.  In the event 
that (i) any of the Supplemental Site License applications has been rejected; 
(ii) any governmental approval issued to Company is canceled, expires, lapses, 

   
Page 9 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



or is otherwise withdrawn or terminated by a governmental authority; or (iii) 
the Company determines the Equipment Location is no longer technically 
compatible or financially feasible for its use, the Company shall have the right 
to terminate all or part of a Supplemental Site License prior to installation of 
any Equipment. Notice of the Company’s exercise of its right to terminate shall 
be given to the City in writing as set forth in this Agreement, and shall be 
effective upon the dates set forth in the notice. All standard and customary 
permit fees paid to said termination date shall be retained by the City. Upon 
such termination, all or part of the Supplemental Site License, as applicable, 
shall be of no further force or effect except to the extent of the obligations set 
forth in this Agreement. The Parties may mutually agree to modify any 
Supplemental Site License Agreements as needed to reflect any modifications.   

7. Termination; Default; Removal and Abandonment of Equipment.

7.1. Termination; Default. At any time, the Company may elect to
terminate this entire Agreement or may elect to discontinue the use of 
only portions of the Equipment. The City shall have the right to 
terminate all or a portion of this Agreement for failure of the Company 
in the performance of any covenant or condition in this Agreement 
within 60 days after receipt from the City of written notice of such 
breach; provided, however, if the nature of the remedy reasonably 
requires more than 60 days to cure, the Company shall not be in default 
if the Company commences such remedy within such 60-day period and 
thereafter diligently pursues such remedy to completion.  

7.2. Notification of Discontinue Use. If at any time the Company intends to 
terminate this Agreement or discontinue use of any or all Equipment, it 
shall notify the City in writing of the intent to discontinue use. Such 
notice (the “Discontinuance Notice”) shall describe the Equipment for 
which the use is to be discontinued, a date of discontinuance of use, 
which date shall not be less than sixty (60) days from the date such 
notice is submitted to the City and the Company’s intended method of 
removal and restoration. The methods of removal or restoration shall 
include the following options (as more specifically described below):  

7.2.1. Removal of the Equipment from the ROW; or 

7.2.2. Abandonment of the Equipment in Place.   

7.3. City’s Election Upon Receipt of Discontinuance Notice. Upon receipt 
of a Discontinuance Notice, the City shall have sixty calendar days (the 
“City’s Election Period”) to notify the Company of its election with 
respect to the discontinued Equipment (the “City’s Election”). The City 
may elect to allow the Company to: i) require removal of the Equipment 
from the ROW, in its sole discretion as more particularly described 
below, ii) convey the Equipment to the City as described below, or iii) 
abandon the Equipment in place. If no election is made by the City, the 
Company may abandon the Equipment in place and the Equipment shall 
remain under the ownership of the Company. In any event, upon 
termination or discontinuance of use, the Company shall be required to 
remove at its sole cost and expense any above ground structures with 
foundations from the ROW upon termination of this Agreement, 

Page 10 
Updated 5/1/2024 



regardless of the election made by the City hereunder. For purposes of 
clarity, above ground structures with foundations does not include the 
removal of pull boxes or other equipment that is flush with ground 
level. The City shall be reimbursed by the Company for all removal costs 
and expenses including administration costs to remove the above ground 
structures with foundations, if the Company fails to remove the same.       

7.4. Removal of Equipment by the Company. The Company may not 
remove, destroy, or permanently disable any such Equipment until the 
Company has obtained the necessary permits from the City for the 
removal of the Equipment from the Public ROW. If the City elects for 
the Equipment to be removed, the Company shall obtain a permit for 
such removal within 60 days of the receipt of the City’s Election. Once 
the necessary permits have been issued by the City (including receipt by 
the City of any performance guarantee), the Company shall remove and 
dispose of such Equipment and restore any property damaged by such 
removal, and shall complete such removal, disposal, and restoration in 
accordance with the terms and within the time set forth in the permit, 
unless additional time is requested from and approved by the City. If 
Company fails to complete this removal and restoration work in 
accordance with the approved permit, then the City, upon written 
notice to the Company, shall have the right at the City’s sole election, 
but not the obligation, to perform the removal or restoration work and 
charge the Company for the actual costs and expenses, including, 
without limitation, reasonable administrative costs. The Company shall 
pay to the City actual costs and expenses incurred by the City in 
performing the work to the extent not covered by the performance 
guarantee received with the permit. If the City does not remove such 
items at the City’s cost after the Company’s failure to so remove, any 
items of the Company’s property remaining on or about the Public ROW 
may, at the City’s option, be deemed abandoned and the City may 
dispose of such property in any manner permitted by Applicable Law.   

7.4.1. If Company does not take any action to remove its Equipment 
pursuant to Section 7.4 or fails to affirmatively abandon or 
remove its Equipment within six (6) months of the City’s 
Election notice, then the City may, in its sole discretion, notify 
the Company that the Company will be deemed to have 
remised, released, quitclaimed, and sold to the City all title 
and ownership in any Equipment remaining in the Public ROW, 
and the permanent abandonment in place and transfer of 
ownership of that Equipment shall automatically vest in the 
City without necessity of an additional agreement or 
instruments of conveyance.  

7.5. Conveyance of Equipment to the City. At the discretion of the City, 
and upon written notice of the City’s Election during the City’s Election 
Period described above, the Company may abandon the Equipment in 
place, and shall further convey full title and ownership of such 
abandoned Equipment to City in a form acceptable to City. If the City 
agrees to accept ownership, the Company shall execute and deliver to 
the City bills of sale in a format acceptable to the City, and such other 

Page 11 
Updated 5/1/2024 



documents as the City deems necessary to effectuate such transfer of 
ownership to the City within thirty (30) days of the City’s written notice 
of its intent to accept the transfer. The consideration for the 
conveyance is the City’s permission to abandon the Equipment in place. 
The Company shall be responsible for all obligations as owner of the 
Equipment, or other liabilities associated therewith, until the 
conveyance is completed. Once the conveyance is completed, the City 
shall be the owner and responsible for the Equipment.   

7.6. Abandonment of Equipment in Place. At the discretion and upon 
written notice of City Election, the Company may abandon the 
Equipment in place, but the Company still retains the responsibility for 
all obligations as owner of the Equipment, or other liabilities associated 
therewith. The Company acknowledges and agrees that any Equipment 
that is abandoned in place may, at a later date, be removed by the City, 
another public agency or special district, if such party is doing work 
within the ROW that requires removal of the Equipment, all without 
further notice to the Company.   

7.7. Survival. The provisions of this Section 7 shall survive the expiration or 
earlier termination of this Agreement.  

8. Damage and Restoration. Unless otherwise provided by Applicable Law, 
whenever the installation, removal, or relocation of any Equipment is required 
or permitted under this Agreement, and such installation, removal, or 
relocation shall cause the Public ROW or any City or other public or private 
property to be damaged, or whenever the Company, in connection with any of 
its operations, causes damage to the ROW or any other public or private 
property, the Company, at its sole cost and expense, shall repair or cause to be 
repaired, the damage and return the ROW or other property in which the 
Equipment is located and all affected property to a safe and satisfactory 
condition. Any repairs or restoration, including emergency work, shall be 
completed as set forth in the Standards.  

9. Other Utilities, Other Service Providers. 

9.1. The Company agrees and understands that if the City has permitted or 
allowed natural gas gathering, storage, transmission, distribution, or 
related facilities within the ROW, the Company has been fully advised 
by the City that such natural gas facilities may now transport and may 
continue to transport natural gas at significant pressures. The Company 
shall advise all employees, agents, contractors, and other persons who 
enter upon the Public ROW the existence and nature of such natural gas 
facilities and the potential danger and risk involved. 

9.2. The Company agrees and understands that any natural gas facilities, if 
located within the ROW, may be subject to cathodic protection by 
rectifier and related anode beds, and that City shall not be liable for 
stray current or interfering signals induced in the Equipment as a result 
of the operating of the cathodic protection system. 

9.3. The Company agrees and understands that if the City has permitted and 
allowed to be constructed electric transmission, distribution, or related 

   
Page 12 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



facilities within the ROW, the Company has been fully advised by the 
City that such electric facilities may now transmit and may continue to 
transmit electric current at significant voltages, and that the conductors 
on electric lines may not be insulated. The Company shall advise all of 
its employees, agents, contractors, and other persons who enter upon 
the Public ROW of the existence and nature of such electric facilities 
and the potential danger and risk involved. 

10. Hazardous Substances. The Company agrees that the Company, its contractors, 
subcontractors, and agents, will not use, generate, store, produce, transport or 
dispose of any Hazardous Substance on, under, about or within the area of the 
ROW or adjacent property in violation of any Applicable Law. Except to the 
extent of the negligence or intentional misconduct of the City, the Company 
shall pay, indemnify, defend, and hold the City harmless against and to the 
extent of any loss or liability incurred by reason of any Hazardous Substance 
produced, disposed of, or used by the Company pursuant to this Agreement. 
The Company shall ensure that any on-site or off-site storage, treatment, 
transportation, disposal, or other handling of any Hazardous Substance will be 
performed by persons who are properly trained, authorized, licensed and 
otherwise permitted to perform those services. The Parties recognize that the 
Company is only using a small portion of the ROW and that the Company shall 
not be responsible for any environmental condition or issue except to the 
extent resulting from the Company’s, its agents’ or contractors’ specific 
activities and responsibilities under this Agreement. 

11. Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify, defend, and hold the City, its 
employees, officers, elected officials, agents, and contractors (the 
“Indemnified Parties”) harmless from and against all injury, loss, damage, or 
liability (or any Claims in respect of the foregoing), costs or expenses arising 
from the installation, use, maintenance, repair or removal of the Network and 
any Equipment, or the Company’s breach of any provision of this Agreement. 
The Company’s indemnification obligations extend to any Claims asserted by 
and any person or entity, including, but not limited to, employees of Company 
or its contractors, subcontractors, or their employees; and any Claims arising 
from, or alleged to be arising in any way from, the acts or omissions of 
Company, its sublessees, invitees, agents, or employees. 

11.1. The City shall give the Company timely written notice of the making of 
any Claim or of the commencement of any action, suit, or other 
proceeding in connection with any Claim. In the event such Claim 
arises, the City shall tender the defense thereof to the Company and 
the Company shall reasonably consult and reasonably cooperate with 
the City and County Attorney’s Office while conducting its defense. The 
City and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate fully therein with the 
Company’s legal representative and shall be consulted on any 
settlements of claims prior to the execution of any settlement 
agreements. 

11.2. If separate representation to fully protect the interests of both Parties 
is or becomes necessary, such as a conflict of interest between the 
Indemnified Party and the counsel selected by the Company to 
represent the City, the Company shall pay for all reasonable expenses 
incurred by the City as a result of such separate representation; 

   
Page 13 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



provided, however, in the event separate representation becomes 
necessary, the City shall select its own counsel and any other experts or 
consultants, subject to the Company’s prior approval, which shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. The City’s expenses hereunder shall include all 
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses, such as consultants’ fees. 

12. Insurance. To assure the City that the Company is always capable of fulfilling
specified indemnification obligations, the Company, and its contractors and
subcontractors, shall purchase and maintain insurance of the kind and in the
amounts required by the City, from an insurer with an AM Best FSR rating of A- 
or higher as more particularly set forth on Exhibit B. The insurance
requirements set forth in Exhibit B may be updated without an amendment to
this Agreement with each renewal, automatic or otherwise, of this Agreement,
provided that increases in insurance requirements shall be commensurate with
the rates of inflation during the period. However, proof of insurance attached
as Exhibit B shall not be deemed to limit or define obligations of the Company
as provided elsewhere in this Agreement, and the Company should rely on its
expertise to obtain additional insurance coverage needed for the City and the
Company in its performance hereunder.

13. Governmental Immunity. The City and its officers, attorneys and employees
are relying on, and do not waive or intend to waive by any provision of this
Master License Agreement or any Supplemental Site License, immunities,
limitations, coverages, or protections of the Colorado Governmental Immunity
Act, C.R.S. §§ 24-10-101, et seq., as a result of entering into this Agreement.

14. Notices.  Any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in
writing and shall be sufficiently given for all purposes if sent by email to the
authorized representative identified below. Such notice shall be deemed to
have been given when the email was sent and received. Either Party may
change its representative at any time by notice to the other Party. The Parties
each designate an authorized representative as follows:

14.1. City Representative. The City designates the City Engineer as the 
authorized representative of the City under this Agreement.  Email 
address is engineeringpermits@broomfield.org.    

14.2. Company Representative. The Company designates Google Fiber Legal 
as the authorized representative of the Contractor under this 
Agreement.  Email address is googlefibernotices@google.com with a 
copy to legal-notices@google.com. 

If the Company is alleging that the City is in breach of this Agreement or 
has violated any term of this Agreement, Legal Notice shall be made by 
making the notice above with a copy to 
citycountyattorney@broomfield.org. 

14.3. Emergency Contact. The Company shall make certain that it has a 
designated contact person available 24/7 in the event of an emergency 
requiring the City to take immediate action. The Company’s 24/7 call 
center number is: 877-454-6959. 

15. Miscellaneous Provisions.  The provisions that follow shall apply generally to

Page 14 
Updated 5/1/2024 



the obligations of the parties under this Agreement. 

15.1. Documentation. A Company representative shall have one copy of the 
applicable rights of way permit issued for work authorized under any 
Supplemental Site License in the Public ROW and available during 
construction or maintenance of any Equipment. 

15.2. Non-Exclusive Use. The Parties understand and agree that the City 
permits other persons and entities to install utility facilities in the ROW.  
In permitting such work to be done by others, the City shall not be 
liable to the Company for any damage caused by those persons or 
entities. 

15.3. Compliance with Laws.  The Company shall be cognizant of all federal 
and state laws and local ordinances and regulations that in any manner 
affect those engaged or employed in the work or which in any manner 
affect the conduct of the work under this Agreement, and of all such 
orders and decrees of bodies or tribunals having any jurisdiction or 
authority over the same, and shall at all times observe and comply with 
all such existing laws, ordinances, regulations and decrees, and shall 
protect and indemnify the City against any claim or liability arising from 
or based on the violations of any such law, ordinance, regulation, order 
or decree, whether by itself, its subcontractors, agents or employees.  

15.4. Severability of Provisions.  If any provision of this Agreement is invalid 
or unenforceable with respect to any Party, the remainder of this 
Agreement or the application of such provision to persons other than 
those as to whom it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be 
affected and each provision of this Agreement shall be valid and 
enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

15.5. No Waiver. A Party shall not be excused from complying with any of the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement by any failure of a Party upon 
any one or more occasions to insist upon or to seek compliance with any 
such terms or conditions. Both the City and the Company expressly 
reserve all rights they may have under Applicable Law to the maximum 
extent possible, and neither the City nor the Company shall be deemed 
to have waived any rights they may now have or may acquire in the 
future by entering into this Agreement, except when done so in writing 
by a Party’s authorized representative. 

15.6. Federal and State Authorizations. The Company has obtained all 
government licenses, permits and authorizations from the Federal 
Communications Commission which are required in order to provide the 
Services. 

15.7. Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed and 
construed by and in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado.  
Venue for any proceeding arising out of this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court, Broomfield County, Colorado. 

15.8. Force Majeure. With respect to any provisions of this Agreement, the 
violation or noncompliance of any term of this Agreement which could 

   
Page 15 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



result in the imposition of a financial penalty, damages, forfeiture or 
other sanction upon a party, such violation or noncompliance shall be 
excused where such violation or noncompliance is the result of acts of 
God, war, civil disturbance, strike or other labor unrest, pandemics, or 
other events, the occurrence of which was not reasonably foreseeable 
by such Party and is beyond such party’s reasonable control, and which 
was not caused and could not have been avoided by a party which used 
its best efforts in its operations to avoid such results. If a Party believes 
that a reason beyond its control has prevented or delayed its 
compliance with the terms of this Agreement, it shall provide 
documentation as reasonably required by the other Party to substantiate 
its claim. If that Party has not yet cured the deficiency, it shall also 
provide the other Party with its proposed plan for remediation, 
including the timing for such cure. 

15.9. Limitation of Liability. Except for indemnification pursuant to Section 
11, neither Party shall be liable to the other, or any of their respective 
agents, representatives, employees for any lost revenue, lost profits, 
loss of technology, rights or services, incidental, punitive, indirect, 
special or consequential damages, loss of data, or interruption or loss of 
use of service, even if advised of the possibility of such damages, 
whether under theory of contract, tort (including negligence), strict 
liability or otherwise. 

15.10. Representations and Warranties. Each of the Parties to this Agreement 
represents and warrants that it has the full right, power, legal capacity, 
and authority to enter into and perform the Parties’ respective 
obligations hereunder and that such obligations shall be binding upon 
such party without the requirement of the approval or consent of any 
other person or entity in connection herewith. 

15.11. No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement benefits only the parties 
hereto and their successors and permitted assigns. There are no 
third-party beneficiaries. 

15.12. Public Disclosure. The Company acknowledges that this Agreement is 
public record within the meaning of the Colorado Open Records Act, 
§24-72-202(6), C.R.S., and accordingly may be disclosed to the public. 

15.13. Officials Not To Benefit. No elected or employed member of City 
government shall directly or indirectly be paid or receive any share or 
part of this Agreement or any benefit that may arise therefrom other 
than being provided the Services of the Company as any other customer 
of the Company.  

15.14. Co-Builds and Use of Conduit by the City. Should the City desire to 
place its own facilities for City purposes in trenches or bores opened by 
the Company using conventional trenching techniques (i.e. not 
shallow/micro trenching), the Company shall cooperate with the City in 
any construction by the permittee that involves trenching or boring in 
accordance with Broomfield Municipal Code §14-10-120 (F) and (G). For 
purposes of clarity, this provision shall not apply to colocation of 
facilities using micro-trenching or Shallow trenching techniques, this 

   
Page 16 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



City shall not colocate in Shallow trenches. 

15.15. Assignment. This Agreement shall not be assigned by either Party 
without the prior written consent of the other Party. Any agreed upon 
assignee will take the place of the assigning party, and the assigning 
party will be released from all of its rights and obligations upon such 
assignment, provided that, the in such assignment the assignee assumes 
all of the obligations of the Company regarding this Agreement including 
obligations prior to the assignment.  

15.15.1. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may at any time, 
on written notice to the City, assign this Agreement or any or 
all of its rights and obligations under this Agreement: 

15.15.1.1. to any Affiliate (as defined below) of Company; 

15.15.1.2. to any successor in interest of Company’s business 
operations in Broomfield in connection with any merger, 
acquisition, or similar transaction; or 

15.15.1.3. to any purchaser of all or substantially all of Company’s 
Equipment in Broomfield. 

15.15.2. Following any assignment of this Agreement to an Affiliate, the 
Company will remain responsible for such Affiliate’s 
performance under the terms of this Agreement. For purposes 
of this section, (a) “Affiliate” means any Person that now or in 
the future, directly or indirectly controls, is controlled with or 
by, or is under common control with Licensee; and (b) 
“control” means, with respect to: (i) a U.S. corporation, the 
ownership, directly or indirectly, of fifty percent (50%) or more 
of the voting power to elect directors thereof, or (ii) a 
non-U.S. corporation, if the voting power to elect directors 
thereof is less than fifty percent (50%), the maximum amount 
allowed by applicable law; and (iii) any other Person, fifty 
percent (50%) or more ownership interest in said Person, or the 
power to direct the management of such Person. 

15.16. Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended except pursuant to a 
written instrument signed by both Parties. The City and County Manager 
has the authority to enter into amendments to this Agreement, in 
addition to the areas herein specifically delegated to the City Engineer 
by this Agreement.  

15.17. Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire understanding 
between the Parties with respect to the subject matter herein. There 
are no representations, agreements, or understandings (whether oral or 
written) between or among the Parties relating to the subject matter of 
this Agreement which are not fully expressed herein. Any prior oral or 
written agreements or licenses between the Parties concerning use of 
the Public ROW is superseded by this Agreement. 

15.18. Execution; Electronic Signatures. This Agreement may be executed in 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of 

Page 17 
Updated 5/1/2024 



which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. This 
Agreement shall not be binding upon any Party hereto unless and until 
the Parties have executed this Agreement. The Parties approve the use 
of electronic signatures for execution of this Agreement. 

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.] 

Page 18 
Updated 5/1/2024 



This Agreement is executed by the Parties hereto in their respective names as 
of ___June 3__________, 2025. 

THE CITY AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD, 
a Colorado municipal corporation and county 

_________________________________ 
Mayor 
One DesCombes Drive 
Broomfield, CO  80020 

ATTEST:  APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

By: ____________________________ By: ______________________________ 
City Clerk City and County Attorney 

COMPANY 

GOOGLE FIBER COLORADO LLC,  
a Colorado limited liability company 

 By: _______________________________ 
 Name:  
 Title: 
 Address:   

Page 19 
Updated 5/1/2024 

Philipp Schindler
Authorized Signatory

2025.04.10 
06:27:02 
-07'00'



EXHIBIT A 
 

THE COMPANY SHALL PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING SUPPLEMENTAL SITE LICENSE SIGNED 
INCLUDING A MAP OF THE AREA TO BE CONSIDERED  FOR INSTALLATION OF EQUIPMENT AS 
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED IN THE MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT.  IN ADDITION TO 
THIS DOCUMENT, THE COMPANY SHALL SUBMIT THE THEN CURRENT FORM OF ROW PERMIT 
APPLICATION (CURRENTLY REFERRED TO AS A PUBLIC/PRIVATE IMPROVEMENT PERMIT).     

 
FORM OF SUPPLEMENTAL SITE LICENSE 

THIS SUPPLEMENTAL SITE LICENSE is entered into this __ day of ________________, 
20___ (“Effective Date”) between the City and County of Bromfield, Colorado, a Colorado 
home rule municipality and county (the “City”) and Google Fiber Colorado LLC, a Colorado 
limited liability company (“Company”) (collectively, the “Parties”). 

1. Supplemental Site License. The City grants to the Company a non-exclusive, revocable 
Supplemental Site License to locate, construct, operate, control and maintain the 
Equipment, as contemplated and defined in that certain Master License Agreement For 
Fiber Optic Network in connection with the operation of the Company’s Network, 
between the City and the Company dated _________, 20___, within the Public ROW 
(as defined in the Master License Agreement) segment shown in Exhibit 1, attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (“Equipment Location”). [DRAFTING 
NOTE: EACH TIME A SUPPLEMENTAL LICENSE IS GRANTED THE NUMBER FOR THE NEXT 
EXHIBIT SHALL BE INCREASED BY 1 DIGIT (i.e. Exhibit 1, Exhibit 2, Exhibit 3 etc.), SO 
EACH SUPPLEMENTAL SITE LICENSE CAN BE MORE EASILY TRACKED] 

2. Term of Supplemental Site License. The term of this Supplemental Site License shall be 
as set forth in Section 3 of the Master License Agreement. 

3. Equipment Location Acknowledgement. The Company and the City acknowledge and 
agree that the general placement of the Equipment in the locations identified on 
Exhibit 1 are feasible and the City believes there is room within the ROW indicated for 
the Equipment; however, the individual permits issued for the installation of the 
Equipment shall list the detail as required and detailed in the Master License 
Agreement.  

4. Incorporation of Master License Agreement. All of the terms and conditions of the 
Master License Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and made a part 
hereof without the necessity of repeating or attaching the Master License Agreement. 
In the event of a contradiction, modification, or inconsistency between the terms of 
the Master License Agreement and this Supplemental Site License, the terms of this 
Supplemental Site License shall govern. Capitalized terms used in this Supplemental 
Site License shall have the same meaning described for them in the Master License 
Agreement unless otherwise indicated herein. 

5. Approvals. It is understood and agreed the Company’s ability to install its Equipment in 
the ROW is contingent upon its obtaining all of the appropriate certificates, permits 
and other approvals that may be required under Applicable Law.  

6. Notice and Communications.  All notices, requests, and demands to or upon any Party 
to this Supplemental Site License shall be in writing addressed to the person 

   
Page 20 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



designated in the Master License Agreement. 

7. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Colorado.  Venue for any legal action related to this Agreement shall lie in the District 
Court, Broomfield County, Colorado. 

 
THE CITY AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD, 
a Colorado municipal corporation and county 

  
  

____________________________________ 
City Engineer 
One DesCombes Drive 
Broomfield, CO  80020 

 
 
     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 
__________________________________ 
City and County Attorney’s Office 

 
 

COMPANY 
 
       Google Fiber Colorado LLC,  

a Colorado limited liability company 
 
 
 

       ____________________________________ 
       Name: 
       Title: 

 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 
 

Supplemental Site License Location Map 
 

[To be attached with Supplemental Site License Application] 
 
 

 

   
Page 21 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



EXHIBIT B 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

CITY and COUNTY of BROOMFIELD INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS - Including Pollution 
Liability 

1. All insurers must be licensed or approved to do business within the State of Colorado. 
2. Contractor/Vendor’s insurance carriers should have an A.M. Best Company rating of at least A- VII. 
3. Additional Insured - City and County of Broomfield, its officers, board members, agents, employees and 

volunteers acting within the scope of their duties for the City and County of Broomfield shall be named as 
Additional Insured on all Commercial General Liability, Pollution Liability, and Automobile Liability Insurance 
policies (construction contracts require Additional Insured coverage for completed operations). 

4. Primacy of Coverage – Coverage required of Contractors and Subcontractors shall be primary and 
non-contributory to any insurance carried by the City and County of Broomfield 

5. All subcontractors must meet the same insurance requirements for the Contract or Purchase Order unless Risk 
Management has approved a deviation. 

6. Subrogation Waiver – All insurance policies required under this Contract maintained by Contractor or its 
Subcontractors shall waive all rights of recovery against City and County of Broomfield, its officers, board 
members, agents, employees and volunteers acting within the scope of their duties for the City and County of 
Broomfield. 

7. Cancellation, Change in Coverage or Limits– The above insurance policies shall include provisions preventing 
cancellation, non-renewal, or reduction in coverage or limits of any insurance, without at least 30 days prior 
notice to Contractor/Vendor and Contractor/ Vendor shall forward such notice to within seven days of receipt of 
such notice. 

8. Certificates – Contractor and all Subcontractors shall provide certificates showing insurance coverage required 
hereunder to the City and County of Broomfield within 5 days of: 

a. the effective date of the Contract 
b. the expiration date of any coverage 
c. a request by the City and County of Broomfield 

9. Separation of Insureds. All insurance policies shall include coverage for cross liability and contain a “Separation of 
Insureds” provision in the general liability policy. 

10. City and County of Broomfield in no way warrants that the limits required herein are sufficient to protect the 
Contractor/Vendor from liabilities that may arise out of the performance of the work under this Contract by the 
Contractor, its agents, representative, employees or subcontractors. The Contractor is not relieved of any liability 
or other obligations assumed or pursuant to the Contract by reason of its failure to obtain or maintain insurance 
in sufficient amounts, duration or type. 

11. All parties understand and agree that the City and County of Broomfield is relying on, and does not waive or 
intend to waive by any provision of this Contract, the monetary limitations, immunities, protections or any other 
rights provided by the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act. 

12. The City and County of Broomfield reserves the right to negotiate additional specific insurance requirements at 
the time of the Contract. 

13. The City and County of Broomfield and Contractor shall cooperate with each other in the collection of any 
insurance proceeds which may be payable in the event of any loss, including the execution and delivery of any 
proof of loss or other actions required to effect recovery.  
 
 
 
 

 
 

   
Page 22 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



 
Vendor/Contractor/Subcontractor shall obtain and maintain, at its own expense and for the duration of the contract including any 
warranty periods under which the Contract are satisfied, the following: 

Insurance Requirements - Including Pollution Liability 
 COVERAGES AND LIMITS OF INSURANCE Required 
1. Commercial General Liability  

● Commercial General Liability insurance covering all 
operations by or on behalf of the contractor/vendor on an 
occurrence basis against claims for bodily injury, property 
damage (including loss of use), advertising liability, 
products and completed operations, and contractual 
liability. 
 

Note:  For contracts involving vendor/contractor contact with minors or at 
risk adults Sexual Abuse and Misconduct Coverage should be included in the 
coverage requirements. 

Minimum Limits: 
● $5,000,000 Each Occurrence 
● $5,000,000  General Aggregate (Per 

project aggregate for construction 
contracts) 

● $5,000,000 Products/Completed 
Operations Aggregate (for construction 
projects, this coverage should be 
maintained for a minimum of 3 years 
from the end of the project) 

2. Automobile Liability 
● Automobile Liability Insurance covering any auto (including 

owned, hired and non-owned autos). 

Minimum Limit:  
● $1,000,000 each accident combined 

single limit. 

● $2,000,000  General Aggregate 
● If hazardous materials are transported, an 

MCS 90 form shall be included on the 
policy. 

3. Workers’ Compensation 
● Workers’ Compensation Insurance as required by State 

statute, covering all Vendors/Contractors employees acting 
within the course and scope of their employment.  
 

Note: This requirement shall not apply when a contractor or subcontractor is 
exempt under the  Colorado Workers’ Compensation Act AND when such 
contractor or subcontractor provides an appropriate sole proprietor letter. 

Employer’s Liability with Minimum Limits: 
● $100,000 Each Accident 
● $100,000 Each Employee by Disease 
● $500,000 Disease Aggregate 

 

4.  Environmental Liability Insurance 
● Contractor/Vendor will purchase an environmental liability 

policy covering bodily injury and property damage claims, 
including cleanup costs, as a result of pollution conditions 
arising from contractor/vendors operations and completed 
operations. 

Minimum Limit: 
● $1,000,000 Each Occurrence/Aggregate 

5. Excess or Umbrella Coverage 
● Excess or Umbrella Liability insurance on an occurrence 

basis  covering in excess of commercial general liability 
insurance, which has coverage as such policy. 

Minimum Limit:  
● $2,000,000 Each Occurrence/Aggregate 

Additional Insured - The following shall be named an Additional Insured: The City and County of Broomfield, its 
officers, board members, agents, employees and volunteers acting within the scope of their duties for the City and 
County of Broomfield shall be named as Additional Insured on all Commercial General Liability, Pollution Liability, 
Umbrella Liability and Automobile Liability Insurance policies (construction contracts require Additional Insured 
coverage for completed operations). A Waiver of Subrogation is provided in favor of the Additional Insureds as 
respects to all policies. 
Certificate Holder is: 
City and County of Broomfield 
One DesCombes Drive 
Broomfield, CO 80020-2495 
certificates@broomfield.org 

 
Any deviations below the standards given above must be approved by the City and County of Broomfield’s Risk Management office. 
Please direct any questions to RiskManagement@broomfield.org 
 

   
Page 23 

 Updated 5/1/2024 



EXHIBIT C 
 

SHALLOW TRENCHING DETAILS 
 

[See attached.] 

   
Page 24 

 Updated 5/1/2024 







City and County of Broomfield

City Council Regular Meeting

C. Proposed Resolution Broadband Ready Certified Community

Meeting

Tuesday, June 3, 2025, 6:00 PM

Agenda Group

Consent Items Item: 6C.

Presented By

Kateri Abeyta, Director of Information Technology

Community Goals

☑ Financial Sustainability and Resilience ☑ Thriving, Diverse, Safe and Welcoming Community

Overview

View Correspondence

View Presentation

Broomfield has proactively taken the necessary steps to become a willing partner that has minimized barriers to
 broadband infrastructure deployment. Resolution No. 2025-96 recognizes the Broadband Ready Certified
Community designation by The State of Colorado Broadband Office (CBO) in the Governor’s Office of Information
Technology.

 

 

 

Attachments

Memo Broadband Ready Certified Community.pdf
Resolution No_ 2025-96, Acknowledging Broomfield is a Broadband Ready Certified Community by the ColoradoBroadband Office in the Governor’s Office of Information Technology.pdf
City & County of Broomfield BRCC.pdf

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68190d3aaf6c1d005df95145%2FMemo%20Broadband%20Ready%20Certified%20Community.pdf?alt=media&token=950d6719-7fd8-411d-9fd2-63e89295693e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68190d3aaf6c1d005df95145%2FMemo%20Broadband%20Ready%20Certified%20Community.pdf?alt=media&token=950d6719-7fd8-411d-9fd2-63e89295693e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68190d3aaf6c1d005df95145%2FMemo%20Broadband%20Ready%20Certified%20Community.pdf?alt=media&token=950d6719-7fd8-411d-9fd2-63e89295693e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68190d3aaf6c1d005df95145%2FResolution%20No_%202025-96%2C%20Acknowledging%20Broomfield%20is%20a%20Broadband%20Ready%20Certified%20Community%20by%20the%20Colorado%20Broadband%20Office%20in%20the%20Governor%E2%80%99s%20Office%20of%20Information%20Technology.pdf?alt=media&token=ee37ad47-2025-4c27-8a41-a20716da399b
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68190d3aaf6c1d005df95145%2FResolution%20No_%202025-96%2C%20Acknowledging%20Broomfield%20is%20a%20Broadband%20Ready%20Certified%20Community%20by%20the%20Colorado%20Broadband%20Office%20in%20the%20Governor%E2%80%99s%20Office%20of%20Information%20Technology.pdf?alt=media&token=ee37ad47-2025-4c27-8a41-a20716da399b
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68190d3aaf6c1d005df95145%2FResolution%20No_%202025-96%2C%20Acknowledging%20Broomfield%20is%20a%20Broadband%20Ready%20Certified%20Community%20by%20the%20Colorado%20Broadband%20Office%20in%20the%20Governor%E2%80%99s%20Office%20of%20Information%20Technology.pdf?alt=media&token=ee37ad47-2025-4c27-8a41-a20716da399b
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68190d3aaf6c1d005df95145%2FResolution%20No_%202025-96%2C%20Acknowledging%20Broomfield%20is%20a%20Broadband%20Ready%20Certified%20Community%20by%20the%20Colorado%20Broadband%20Office%20in%20the%20Governor%E2%80%99s%20Office%20of%20Information%20Technology.pdf?alt=media&token=ee37ad47-2025-4c27-8a41-a20716da399b
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68190d3aaf6c1d005df95145%2FCity%20%26%20County%20of%20Broomfield%20BRCC.pdf?alt=media&token=5808b0b8-5bd2-4384-81b1-ad11b336fb36
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68190d3aaf6c1d005df95145%2FCity%20%26%20County%20of%20Broomfield%20BRCC.pdf?alt=media&token=5808b0b8-5bd2-4384-81b1-ad11b336fb36
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F68190d3aaf6c1d005df95145%2FCity%20%26%20County%20of%20Broomfield%20BRCC.pdf?alt=media&token=5808b0b8-5bd2-4384-81b1-ad11b336fb36


Memo for Broadband Ready Certified Community
Prepared By: Kateri Abeyta, Director of Information Technology

Summary
View Correspondence
View Presentation

Providing  access  to  high-speed  broadband  is  a  community  effort  that  requires  planning,  coordination, 
partnership and management at the local,  regional, and state levels.  The State of Colorado Broadband 
Office (CBO) in the Governor’s Office of Information Technology has established a program to recognize 
broadband-ready communities that have infrastructure, programs, and support to connect residents to high-
speed, reliable internet for the betterment of residents and the community's economy.

Since 2017, the City and County of Broomfield team has been focused on the implementation of the Fiber 
Master  Plan  that  includes  plans  to  create  opportunities  for  reliable,  affordable  high-speed  broadband 
connectivity that is  essential  to enticing new industry, sustaining, and growing the local  economy, and 
insulating  and  improving  the  quality  of  life  for  the  residents  in  the  community.  CCOB’s  network 
infrastructure has become the “Fourth Utility” in critical infrastructure along with water/sewer, power/gas, 
and streets necessary to connect and serve our community.

In order to earn the Broadband Ready Certified Community designation, CCOB has met program criteria that  
includes:

● Identification of the department (Information Technology)  that  will  serve as  lead for  broadband 
efforts and collaborate with other departments in developing policies, guidelines, and processes that 
will ensure smooth implementation of projects; 

● Establishment  of  a  plan,  capacity,  and  funding  sources  to  ensure  long-term  sustainability  of 
broadband deployment; 

● Engaging  in  partnerships  with  local  Internet  Service  Providers  (ISPs).  CCOB  has  Master  License 
agreements  with  4  ISPs  to  install  fiber-to-home  infrastructure  within  Broomfield  rights-of-way 
HyperFiber, Intrepid Fiber Networks, Vero, and Metronet and a 5th contract pending with Google 
Fiber; 

● Creating an inventory of infrastructure assets utilizing our GIS platform to assist in determining route 
feasibility and coordination with other critical asset alignments.

CCOB has proactively taken the necessary steps to become a willing partner that has minimized barriers to 
broadband infrastructure deployment. Resolution No. 2025-96 confirms that commitment and recognizes the 
Broadband Ready Certified Community designation by The State of Colorado Broadband Office (CBO) in the 
Governor’s Office of Information Technology.

Financial Considerations

N/A

Prior Council or Other Entity Actions

August 15, 2017 Project Connect: Municipal Broadband Network Planning
February 27, 2018 Explore Improvements to City Communications and Internet Connectivity
August 13, 2024 Resolution No. 2024-63 for a Master License Agreement for HyperFiber of Colorado, LLC 
(HyperFiber)
August 13, 2024 Resolution No. 2024-99 for a Master License Agreement for BIF IV Intrepid OPCO, LLC 
(Intrepid).

October 1, 2024 Resolution No. 2024-135 for a Master License Agreement for Vero Broadband, LLC (Vero)
November 12, 2024 Resolution No. 2024-51 for a Master License Agreement for Metro Fibernet, LLC 

                

Page 1

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1T1E84JHlXao1KXMe_OfKsT3y-QFZfguZ/view?usp=drivesdk
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1En4aHq9E-48Zhv855t8P812oc-iZRdoV/view?usp=drivesdk
https://drive.google.com/file/d/16-qvORFoXtQ3CU03vTwA2WelJRtpVm5D/view?usp=drivesdk
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1AI7njaJwxdKa0Oxi3ptmW6eVUU9EM3pz/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1v2Bek7B_v7aEHswF3NspBG8SVbaPRly9/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B6G0KFwvQuFvalh2Z3I4a2RuZ2s/view?resourcekey=0-8AlHh6367sc63doBFZnp4g
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82


(Metronet)

Boards and Commissions Prior Actions and Recommendations

N/A

Proposed Actions / Recommendations

If Council desires to recognize the Broadband Ready Certified Community designation, the appropriate 
motion is...

That Resolution 2025-96 be adopted.

Alternatives

Do not approve the Resolution acknowledging the designation.  The current designation would stand, but 
staff would not seek renewal in three years. 

 Page 2



RESOLUTION NO. 2025-96

A resolution acknowledging the City and County of Broomfield is a Broadband Ready Certified 
Community by the Colorado Broadband Office in the Governor’s Office of Information 

Technology

Recitals.
WHEREAS, the State of Colorado recognizes the critical importance of fast, reliable, 

and affordable broadband internet access as a necessary tool for communities to engage in 
work, education, healthcare, and commerce; and

WHEREAS, Governor Jared Polis signed Executive Order D 2022 023, which establishes 
a goal of connecting 99% of Colorado households with access to high-speed broadband 
internet by 2027; and

WHEREAS, the Advanced Colorado Broadband grant programs will provide Colorado 
communities with state and funding on a competitive, matching basis to execute broadband 
projects; and 

WHEREAS, to help local communities understand their role and ways they can plan and 
execute broadband projects, the Colorado Broadband Office developed the Broadband Ready 
Community Checklist (BRCC) – a set of tangible, voluntary, tasks that will help local 
communities and their partners successfully plan and execute broadband projects; and

WHEREAS, Broomfield has demonstrated successful completion of the Broadband 
Ready Checklist and has been designated as a Broadband Ready Certified Community by the 
Colorado Broadband Office; 

Now, therefore, be hereby resolved by the City Council of the City and County of Broomfield:

Section 1.
City Council hereby acknowledges that the City and County of Broomfield has been recognized 
as a Broadband Ready Certified Community by the Colorado Broadband Office and Broomfield 
shall maintain certification for a period of three years from the date of certification letter. 

Section 2.
The City  and  County  of  Broomfield  acknowledges  Broadband  Ready  Certified  Community 
designation  is  voluntary  and  not  required  to  receive  funding  via  the  Advance  Colorado 
Broadband grant programs. 

Page 1
Revised 3/2024



Section 3.
The City and County of Broomfield acknowledges that the designation does not guarantee 
state and/or federal broadband funding, but will identify the community as a willing partner 
that has minimized barriers to broadband infrastructure deployment.

Section 4.
This resolution is effective upon its approval by the City Council.

Approved on June 3, 2025

The City and County of Broomfield, Colorado

                                                                        
Mayor

Attest:

                                                                        
Office of the City and County Clerk

Approved as to form:

NCR

                                                                        
City and County Attorney

Page 2
Revised 3/2024





City and County of Broomfield

City Council Regular Meeting

A. Public Hearing - Brainard V Genesis Dealership Planned Unit Development Plan, Final Plat, Site Development
Plan/Urban Renewal Site Plan & Use by Special Review

Meeting

Tuesday, June 3, 2025, 6:00 PM

Agenda Group

Action Items Item: 7A.

Presented By

Lynn Merwin

Community Goals

☑ Thriving, Diverse, Safe and Welcoming Community

Overview

View Correspondence and visit BroomfieldVoice.com

View Presentation

 

Cars-DB4 LP has submitted an application for a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Plan, final plat, and a use by
special review/site development plan/urban renewal site plan (USR/SDP/URSP) to capture improvements related to
a new automobile sales and service center. The project area includes Lot 2, Brainard V Minor Subdivision, totaling
approximately 3.5 acres.

 

 

 

Attachments

Brainard PUD, FP, USR, and SDP_URSP CC URA Memo (1).pdf
2025-91 Brainard V (Genesis) Resolution.pdf
2025-92-UR Brainard V (Genesis) BURA Resolution).pdf

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://www.broomfieldvoice.com/4101-industrial-lane-hyundai-development
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F675b05d9dadf240054273a32%2FBrainard%20PUD%2C%20FP%2C%20USR%2C%20and%20SDP_URSP%20CC%20URA%20Memo%20(1).pdf?alt=media&token=c5cb491a-fe81-468c-ac25-01524f9ba5a6
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F675b05d9dadf240054273a32%2FBrainard%20PUD%2C%20FP%2C%20USR%2C%20and%20SDP_URSP%20CC%20URA%20Memo%20(1).pdf?alt=media&token=c5cb491a-fe81-468c-ac25-01524f9ba5a6
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F675b05d9dadf240054273a32%2FBrainard%20PUD%2C%20FP%2C%20USR%2C%20and%20SDP_URSP%20CC%20URA%20Memo%20(1).pdf?alt=media&token=c5cb491a-fe81-468c-ac25-01524f9ba5a6
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F675b05d9dadf240054273a32%2F2025-91%20Brainard%20V%20(Genesis)%20Resolution.pdf?alt=media&token=4242b62d-16f0-4997-8ec3-b71366f7445e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F675b05d9dadf240054273a32%2F2025-91%20Brainard%20V%20(Genesis)%20Resolution.pdf?alt=media&token=4242b62d-16f0-4997-8ec3-b71366f7445e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F675b05d9dadf240054273a32%2F2025-91%20Brainard%20V%20(Genesis)%20Resolution.pdf?alt=media&token=4242b62d-16f0-4997-8ec3-b71366f7445e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F675b05d9dadf240054273a32%2F2025-92-UR%20Brainard%20V%20(Genesis)%20BURA%20Resolution).pdf?alt=media&token=5efd857b-205e-45ea-a5fb-b24e794acc60
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F675b05d9dadf240054273a32%2F2025-92-UR%20Brainard%20V%20(Genesis)%20BURA%20Resolution).pdf?alt=media&token=5efd857b-205e-45ea-a5fb-b24e794acc60
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F675b05d9dadf240054273a32%2F2025-92-UR%20Brainard%20V%20(Genesis)%20BURA%20Resolution).pdf?alt=media&token=5efd857b-205e-45ea-a5fb-b24e794acc60


Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

Summary
View Correspondence
View Presentation 
Broomfield   Voice   

Cars-DB4 LP has submitted an application for a planned unit development (PUD) Plan, final plat, and a 
combined use by special review/site development plan/urban renewal site plan (USR/SDP/URSP) to capture 
improvements related to a new automobile sales and service center. The project location is 4101 Industrial 
Lane, and the area includes Lot 2 of the Brainard V Minor Subdivision, totaling approximately 3.5 acres.

Project Location Map

Proposed Resolution Nos. 2025-91 and 2025-92-UR would approve the requested PUD Plan, final plat and 
SDP/URSP/USR. 

Financial and Economic Considerations

The proposed development of a full-service automobile center, with vehicle sales and service, is consistent 
with the industrial land use designation envisioned for the area in the Broomfield Comprehensive Plan. The 
proposed development and business would add to the increased variety of electric vehicle options in the 
community and the area. The proposed development would also increase local employment, with most 
positions providing benefits and paying more than $30.00 an hour. 

In Colorado, vehicle sales activity is taxed through collection of Sales/Use Tax to the point of the owner’s 
residence. Thus, Broomfield receives Use Tax for new and used vehicles purchased by local residents and 

Page 1

https://www.broomfieldvoice.com/4101-industrial-lane-hyundai-development
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82


Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

businesses, as opposed to the location of the vehicle dealership. 

The net fiscal analysis is net positive for this proposed development, estimated to be $125,000-$150,000 
annually. The dealership will generate sales tax from parts and tire purchases, property tax for the building, 
and business personal property tax for furniture and service center equipment. Additionally, the 
construction of the sales and service building will generate an estimated $125,000-$150,000 in one-time 
building material Use Tax revenues. 

Due to the location of the proposed development, the water and sanitary lines will need to be extended to 
the property. A 12-inch water line will be installed along Industrial Lane to the west property line, running 
through the site for fire hydrant connections. This water main is capped at the east property line and will 
allow the neighbor at Conscious Alliance to connect and add a water loop to their property in the future. 
This design greatly improves the fire protection for this development and the existing building to the east, 
housing Conscious Alliance. 

Prior Council or Other Entity Actions

● In September 2022, City Council and Land Use Review Commission (LURC) reviewed an online concept 
plan for three flex buildings.

● On October 17, 2023, City Council reviewed a concept plan for a 24,000 square foot automobile sales 
and service dealership. 

Boards and Commissions Prior Actions and Recommendations

The Land Use Review Commission reviewed the proposed project on April 28, 2025, and voted unanimously 
to recommend approval with no conditions.

Proposed Actions/Recommendations

Following and subject to the results of the public hearing, if the Council wishes to approve the application 
as presented, it is recommended that….

Resolution No. 2025-91 be approved. 

If the Broomfield Urban Renewal Authority wishes to approve the urban renewal site plan, it is 
recommended that….

Resolution No. 2025-92-UR be approved.

Alternatives

If the proposed plans do not comply with applicable Broomfield Municipal Code review standards for the 
planned unit development plan, final plat, use by special review, and site development plan/urban renewal 
site plan:

○ Direct the City and County Attorney to draft findings to support denial of the application 
based on the record and continue the application for a decision to a date certain. 

Key Details
Project Website
https://www.broomfieldvoice.com 4101industrial lane 

Page 2

https://www.broomfieldvoice.com/4101-industrial-lane-hyundai-development
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1SrUqOtJEgJNfSbzuxGRwBmqfZ0e395Ud/view
https://www.broomfieldvoice.com/4101-industrial-lane-flex-buildings


Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

Links to Application Materials
Narrative
Brainard V PUD Plan
Brainard V Replat B, Lot 2   Final Plat  
Brainard V USR/URSP/SDP

How to Submit Public Comments on this Proposal
Questions and comments may be provided on the Broomfield Voice project page (refer to the above link) or 
emailed directly to planning@broomfield.org

SUMMARY OF APPLICATION

The request is for consideration of approval of a final plat, PUD Plan, USR/URSP/SDP associated with an 
automobile dealership that includes a showroom and sales office with an automobile service garage at the 
rear of the building.

Property Owner and Applicant
Property Owner: Cars DB4 LP
Applicant: Casey Adragna/Adragna Architecture + Development

Concept Review 
A concept review was held for the proposed final plat, PUD, and USR/URSP/SDP on   October 17, 2023  . The 
conceptual plan received generally positive feedback. The applicant is moving forward with their proposal, 
consistent with the conceptual plan shared at the meeting. The building placement, orientation, automotive 
service garage, and inventory storage will be located in the same areas that were identified in the concept 
plan and as described in this staff report. Since the concept review meeting, the applicant has opted to 
change the business focus from a Hyundai dealership to the proposed Genesis dealership.

APPLICABLE  CITY AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD PLANS

Relationship to Comprehensive Plan
The 2016 Broomfield Comprehensive Plan land use designation for this property is “Industrial.” The 
Comprehensive Plan describes Industrial areas as those characterized by light and heavy industrial, office, 
manufacturing, research and development, warehousing, outside storage, and some commercial uses. 
Automobile sales and service are consistent with this designation. The following map shows the project 
location within a portion of the Comprehensive Plan land use map for the surrounding area. 

Page 3

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1koetlAV7TGlzmvWpse-XfY4aX7GKjYYc/view?usp=drive_link
mailto:planning@broomfield.org
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1yoPGE6KJyd2d7K91cgVHvcsFU2GDP2eK/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ELZDrr1OFoeuFxT7FMxYC29JQ4jVsmD0/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ELZDrr1OFoeuFxT7FMxYC29JQ4jVsmD0/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1flSQu7i-gmfZdspRj_vZXKSDCwHtYUOM/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1SrUqOtJEgJNfSbzuxGRwBmqfZ0e395Ud/view


Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

A Portion of the 2016 Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map

Goals and Policies
Elements of the proposed project could help meet the following Comprehensive Plan goals and policies:

Goal LU-E: “Encourage and support commercial development that contributes to a diverse community image 
and to a vibrant character that provides increased choices and services”:

○ Policy LU-E.13: Encourage and support a variety of business employers and industries.

Goal ED.8: “Maintain and enhance the vitality of commercial, industrial, and retail sectors in order to 
provide employment and tax base.”

Goal LU-F: Industrial Areas - “Encourage and support a variety of industrial land use types and intensities in 
designated areas that are both supported by and compatible with surrounding land uses.”

Neighborhood/Sub-Area Plan
The property is within the US 36 Sub-Area Plan adopted by the Council in 1997. The property is identified as
“light industrial” within the plan. 

Broomfield’s Sub-Area Plans are designed to help achieve several common goals:
● Create a quality “Gateway Image” that conveys the desired vision of the Broomfield community;
● Establish a balance of complementary land uses;
● Maintain economic stability for the City through value-creation and value-retention;
● Provide a means for coordinating planning for infrastructure;
● Promote meaningful dialogue among landowners, governmental agencies, and others to facilitate
communication, cooperation, and successful development results; and
● Fulfill intergovernmental commitments made through agreements.

Page 4



Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

The application is generally consistent with the goals of the sub-area plan.

ZONING, URBAN RENEWAL AREA, PREVIOUSLY APPROVED PLANS, AND STATUS OF 
THE DEVELOPMENT

Zoning 
The property is zoned Planned Unit Development (PUD), without an approved plan and is subject to the 
Broomfield Municipal Code (BMC) Interchange Influence Area (IIA). The IIA was adopted in 1991 and provides 
development requirements and lists prohibited uses within a defined overlay area, which includes the 
subject property. The prohibited uses include automobile sales and services. For this reason, a variance 
request to permit the use is included with the development plans. 

The property is also subject to the US 36 West Corridor Urban Renewal Plan (URP) and the US 36 Sub-Area 
Plan (SAP). The URP, adopted in 2013, permits automobile uses, subject to approval of a use by special 
review (USR) by the Urban Renewal Authority. The SAP identifies the land use on this subject site as “Light 
Industrial.” Automobile uses align with the light industrial designation. 

As established in the BMC, the interchange influence overlay area designation, established in 1991, is 
intended to be applied primarily to undeveloped and underdeveloped lands which may be subject to 
increased growth and development pressures due to the construction of the (then) new interchange on a 
limited access highway such as US 36. It is further intended that this designation will encourage and foster 
high-quality development in the area of a (then) proposed interchange. PUD zoning allows for customization 
of the property zoning through development and approval of a PUD plan, subject to a formal development 
review process with public hearings and a final decision by the City Council. The proposed PUD Plan allows 
for an automobile dealership with automotive repair, subject to approval of a use by special review by the 
City Council. 

US 36 West Urban Renewal Plan and US 36 Sub-Area Plan
This property is subject to the US 36 West Corridor Urban Renewal Area Plan, which states that the purposes 
of the Plan are to eliminate and prevent blight and to achieve development of the highest quality within the 
Urban Renewal Area. The review standards for the Urban Renewal Site Plan are substantially similar to the 
standards of a site development plan approval per the Broomfield Municipal Code. The Urban Renewal Plan 
establishes permitted uses and uses, including automobile sales and services, that are subject to special 
review.  The subject application is proposing to permit automobile sales and services, subject to a use by 
special review.

The property is also within the US 36 Sub-Area plan adopted by the Council in 1997. The property is 
identified as part of an “open space subdistrict” within the plan. The 2016 Comprehensive Plan updated the 
Open Lands designation of this property to “Industrial.” Since the designation of the property was updated 
to “Industrial” in 2016, the open space goals and standards applied to this property in 1997 are no longer 
relevant. 

Broomfield’s Sub-Area Plans are designed to help achieve several common goals:
● Create a quality “Gateway Image” that conveys the desired vision of the Broomfield community;
● Establish a balance of complementary land uses;
● Maintain economic stability for the City through value-creation and value-retention;
● Provide a means for coordinating planning for infrastructure;
● Promote meaningful dialogue among landowners, governmental agencies, and others to facilitate 

communication, cooperation, and successful development results; and
● Fulfill intergovernmental commitments made through agreements.

Page 5

https://www.broomfield.org/DocumentCenter/View/5097/10042013-US36WestCorridor-Urban-Renewal-Plan?bidId=
https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT17ZO_CH17-29ININAR_17-29-010IN


Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

Previously Approved Development Plans
The project area is an undeveloped, vacant, platted parcel. A previous development application for a PUD 
Plan, final plat, and USR/URSP/SDP for a small flex industrial development was submitted but later 
withdrawn when the then property owner sold it to the current owner, Cars-DB4 LP. 

Status of the Development 
The subject property is currently vacant. In 1999, it was platted via a minor subdivision plat. In September 
2001, the City Council annexed the property. 

AREA CONTEXT

The following aerial map shows the proposed development boundary in context with the surrounding 
neighborhood. The area is comprised primarily of light industrial uses, with a portion of the lot frontage 
taking advantage of its visibility from US Highway 36. The property lines of the subject site generally run 
parallel to the right-of-way and are diagonal, running northwest/southeast. US Highway 36 is located 
approximately 120 feet southwest of the property and across from Industrial Lane. 

Immediately to the southeast of the site is Conscious Alliance, an office, small warehouse, and distribution 
center, and to the southeast of that property is Extra Space, a self-storage facility approved by the City 
Council and the Urban Renewal Authority in 2017. To the north of the site are the Burlington Northern and 
Santa Fe (BNSF) railroad tracks. Hunter Douglas is to the north of the railroad. The Colorado Department of 
Transportation owns the property to the northwest; it is used for a detention pond that captures runoff from 
the highway.

Page 6



Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

Project Location Map

Surrounding Land Uses
The property to the northwest is owned by the Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad, and the property to 
the south is a public right of way that contains Industrial Lane. The property to the southeast contains an 
office warehouse. The property to the northwest contains a detention pond that the Colorado Department 
of Transportation owns; the Comprehensive Plan designates these properties as “Industrial”.

CURRENT APPLICATION –
DETAILED DESCRIPTION AND STAFF REVIEW
 
Description
Cars-DB4 LP is requesting approval of a PUD Plan, final plat, and USR/URSP/SDP to allow for an automobile 
sales and service use on a vacant 3.52-acre lot at 4101 Industrial Lane. The proposal is for a 27,200 square-
foot (sf) automobile dealership with a showroom and service center on 1.20 acres (-/+). Other improvements 
include electric vehicle parking spaces, customer and employee parking, an area set aside for inventory 
storage, landscaping, signage, and exterior lighting. 

Final Plat
The final plat establishes property lines, the drainage and public access easement for the stormwater 
detention pond, and utility easements. As mentioned previously, a segment of land that is approximately 
0.147 acres in size was conveyed to Broomfield via a quit-claim deed for the sidewalk/trail segment that 
will provide connections to the US 36 Bikeway and other trails in the vicinity. This land is not a part of the 
final plat.

Page 7



Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

Planned Unit Development Plan 
The proposed PUD Plan establishes the site-specific zoning details for the property.  While the proposed 
auto sales and service as the primary permitted use is not consistent with the IIA overlay, as discussed 
above, the PUD Plan otherwise aligns with the intent of the IIA as established in the BMC, Chapter 17-29. 
The BMC indicates that the IIA designation will encourage and foster high-quality development in the area of 
the Northwest Parkway and US 36 Highway interchange. The PUD plan explicitly prohibits specific 
commercial uses, including car washes, mini storage facilities, and animal kennels, which aligns with the 
prohibited uses listed in Municipal Code section 17-29-060. The PUD Plan also establishes the landscape and 
architectural design criteria, including building design and materials, parking design, lighting, and the type 
of fencing that is permitted.  The proposed PUD Plan’s established design standards align with those 
outlined in the BMC, Chapter 17-29. 

Use by Special Review
The applicant is proposing automobile sales and service as a permitted use subject to a use by special 
review (USR), per the requirements outlined in the US 36 West Corridor Urban Renewal Area Plan, which 
permits automobile uses, subject to approval of a USR. The USR is included on the URSP/SDP and it outlines 
an operation plan that establishes the automobile dealership’s hours of operation, approximate number of 
employees, exterior lighting operation, vehicle service operations, and the approximate hours when new 
vehicles will be delivered. 

The following is an excerpt from the USR regarding the operations plan:

Operation Plan for Dealership

Page 8

https://www.broomfield.org/DocumentCenter/View/5097/10042013-US36WestCorridor-Urban-Renewal-Plan?bidId=
https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT17ZO_CH17-29ININAR_17-29-060PRUS
https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT17ZO_CH17-29ININAR_17-29-060PRUS


Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

Background/Base Data

PROPERTY OWNERS Cars-DB4 LP
APPLICANT Casey Adragna/Adragna Architecture + Development
PROPERTY LOCATION 4101 Industrial Lane
PROPERTY SIZE 3.52 Acres
CURRENT ZONING PUD
PROPOSED ZONING PUD
CURRENT LAND USES Vacant 
PROPOSED LAND USES Automobile Sales and Service
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN DESIGNATION Industrial

Site Layout
The site plan proposes the 27,200 sf building at the southeast side of the lot, with the automobile service 
area at the rear or north side of the property. The service center will include garage doors facing the 
northwest and southeast. The service entrance for customers is at the front (south side) of the building. 

Parking for customers and employees is at the front of the building and to the northwest and southeast 
(generally oriented toward Industrial Lane). Automobile inventory parking is shown along the northwestern 
area of the lot (generally the back portion of the building). The stormwater detention pond is shown 
northwest of the inventory parking area. Drive aisles provide circulation throughout the property and around 
the showroom/sales, and service building. The trash enclosure is shown at the rear of the site at the 
northwest corner of the building and is screened. The following graphic is a representation of the proposed 
improvements.  Note that the lot is situated at a northwesterly angle. Refer to the north arrow in the 
graphic for orientation. 

Proposed Dealership Site Layout
  
The property owner previously conveyed to Broomfield approximately 0.147 acres of land along the 
Industrial Lane street frontage for a Broomfield Capital Improvement Program project comprising public 
roadway improvements, including a bicycle/pedestrian trail segment. The Broomfield-funded CIP project 
phase 1 extended from Commerce Street to Shep’s Crossing, located approximately 0.4 miles to the east of 

Page 9



Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

this site, and is now complete. The construction of the phase 2 segment will continue the trail from Shep’s 
Crossing to the US 36 East Flatiron Station Park-n-Ride and is anticipated to begin in May 2026. This phase 2 
segment extends in front of the subject site. 

The applicant will be required to coordinate with CIP on the trail construction and the developer’s 
obligation to install the adjacent landscaping once the CIP trail project is completed. These requirements 
are outlined in the subdivision improvement agreement (described in more detail below). Broomfield will 
maintain the trail to include snow removal, but the adjacent property owner, Cars-DB4 LP, will maintain the 
plants and irrigation system. The USR/URSP/SDP includes a table listing ownership and maintenance 
responsibilities, including the off-site landscaping. 

There is one monument sign at the entrance from Industrial Lane. An at-grade vehicle display pad that is 
made of concrete and designed to showcase inventory is located at the southeast corner at the front of the 
lot facing Industrial Lane, with a second display pad depicted to the west of the showroom/sales/office 
building.

The BMC Chapter 17-29, IIA, establishes a minimum required setback of 30 feet for the building and parking 
from all perimeter property lines (including 30 feet from the Industrial Lane public right-of-way line based 
on this street being classified as a minor arterial roadway). The side setback on the northwest (in the 
vicinity of the onsite stormwater detention facility) complies with the minimum required 30-foot perimeter 
property line setback; however, the side setback on the west (adjacent to the CDOT parcel) does not. The 
site layout proposes additional reductions for the other perimeter setbacks. These reduced setbacks apply 
to perimeter parking areas along the Industrial Lane frontage (the front setback), the southeastern side 
setback (adjacent to Conscious Alliance), and the rear yard setback (adjacent to the BNSF railroad).  The 
following table provides a summary of the variances requested with this application.

Page 10



Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

These proposed setbacks are set forth in the PUD plan and require a variance from the IIA setback 
requirements. The variance request is also outlined in the PUD Plan. The PUD Plan allows for the potential 
customization of the site-specific zoning if approved by the city council through a public hearing regarding 
the application. 

The reduced setback and associated landscaping required along the front of the lot is captured via a 
variance (see Variance table above). For the reduced setback from 30 ft to 1 ft along the Industrial Lane 
right of way, the applicant’s justification is that a 22 ft wide strip of land was deeded to Broomfield for the 
sidewalk/bicycle lane, decreasing the depth of the lot frontage. While the reduced front setback and 
landscaping both require a variance, the distance from the edge of the Industrial Lane asphalt to the new 
property line, which includes the prior conveyance of property for the trail and landscaped right-of-way, is 
46.79 feet at the closest point (southeast side). The developer is required to install and maintain the 

Page 11



Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

landscaping along their Industrial Land frontage. This landscaping will screen the parking lot encroachment. 
The applicant has also noted that the site overall provides 35% private open area, which exceeds the 
required 25% minimum.

The applicant’s justification for the reduced perimeter setbacks is that the property is irregularly shaped, 
making it challenging to meet the minimum 30-foot (building and parking) and 15-foot (landscape) setbacks 
required per the IIA. Further, if this property were zoned General Business, where an automobile sales and 
service use is permitted by right, the setbacks would be zero between similar uses for the parking, and 25 
feet from the street. The applicant’s additional justification for the reduction in the setback and landscape 
widths at the northwest portion of the lot is that the CDOT-owned property, used for detention purposes, 
indirectly provides for additional buffering from the ROW. 

Vehicular Access, Internal Circulation, and Parking 
The proposed project will be accessed off Industrial Lane. The full movement entrance from Industrial Lane 
into the site leads customers and employees to parking at the front (south), east, and west sides of the sales 
and service building. Inventory storage spaces are provided on the northwest side of the site. 

Twenty-five-foot drive aisles provide vehicular access to the inventory storage parking area. Customers and 
employees can access the garage/service area on the south side of the building. 

The applicant provided a traffic and parking study associated with the proposed use. It concluded that the 
access will meet Broomfield requirements and that the traffic generated by this development will not 
warrant the construction of deceleration lanes at the site access. It further concluded that 61 parking 
spaces provided for employees and customers will meet the requirements of the Broomfield Municipal Code, 
Chapter 17-32-040. Traffic Engineering reviewed and accepted this analysis. 

The plan also depicts two emergency, secondary shared public access drives interior to the lot on the south 
side. This will benefit the subject site and the parcel immediately to the south/southeast (Conscious 
Alliance) and has been reviewed and accepted by Traffic Engineering and the North Metro Fire Rescue 
District (NMFRD). The final plat creates and depicts the limits of the shared public access easement. The 
public access easement benefits both the subject property and the adjacent property to the southeast by 
providing each property with a secondary access point.

Broomfield's Municipal Code establishes a parking minimum for automobile sales and service centers, which 
is based on the total number of anticipated employees and customers and the total square footage of the 
automobile sales area of the building. Based on these calculations, the total number of spaces required for 
employees and customers is 61. The site depicts those spaces, meeting the BMC parking requirements. 
There are 86 parking spaces provided for vehicle inventory storage, which do not contribute towards parking 
maximums. The development will provide four short-term bicycle parking spaces, which exceeds the 
requirement of two, at the northeast side of the building.  EV installed, ready, capable, and capable light 
spaces are provided per the Building Code requirements. The parking table below lists the parking 
requirements and identifies the quantity of parking required. 

Page 12

https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT17ZO_CH17-32ACBUUS_17-32-040OREPARESP
https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT17ZO_CH17-32ACBUUS_17-32-040OREPARESP


Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

Transit Accessibility and Walkability
The site is located within the Regional Transportation District (RTD). Currently, no bus stops are within a 
half-mile walking distance of the subject property. There is no bus service on Industrial Lane. The nearest 
Park-n-Ride is on the east side of US36/Flatiron Station, which is approximately one mile west and north of 
the property.

The USR/URSP/SDP shows internal sidewalk connections with designated pedestrian crossings.  Six-foot-
wide sidewalks provide connections between the dealership building and the vehicle service area, and are 
adjacent to nose-in parking, per the requirements.

The Industrial Lane Bikeway is a pedestrian and bicycle trail that will run parallel to Industrial Lane and 
connect to other regional trail segments. This Capital Improvement Program (CIP) project is funded at 80% 
through a Federal grant and is divided into two phases, being managed by the Broomfield CIP. The first 
phase, which is to the southeast of the site, is completed. The trail in front of the subject property is 
within the project limits of the second phase. Once construction is completed in 2026, it will provide a 
direct connection to the US 36 Bikeway and to the Northwest Parkway trail. For expediency, Broomfield 
will construct this trail. Because the trail construction may not occur until after this auto dealership 
project is completed, the property owner will reimburse Broomfield for its portion of the project adjacent 
to the property, and the owner will install landscaping adjacent to the trail consistent with the SDP once 
the trail has been constructed. This is captured under a special provision in the subdivision improvement 
agreement. 

Architecture
The BMC Chapter 17-29 IIA includes architectural standards that indicate a maximum building height of 40
ft, with building materials that must be constructed of high-quality matte-textured earth tones. The IIA
indicates that masonry, brick, and stone are preferred as principal cladding materials. Further, unpainted
or untextured concrete or masonry is prohibited. The use of reflective glass should be minimized, and
any use of highly reflective glass is prohibited. The color palette should be simple and consistent within
projects. Building entrances should be easily identifiable from the street and the principal drive.

 The elevation drawings shown on the USR/URSP/SDP provide illustrations (included below) of the 
architecture proposed for the project. The highest part of the building is shown at 25 ft, which complies 
with the maximum building height of 40 ft. The proposed plan shows the building will be constructed of 
concrete masonry with a continuous insulation EIFS system on the exterior. Two-story glazing is shown at the 
front of the building to highlight the showroom. The glazing includes a non-glare, low-reflective coating. 
The showroom part of the building is dark silver with non-reflective glazing. Notes on the elevation sheets 
indicate that the glazing is designed to be bird-friendly, which includes the implementation of screens or 
other derived elements that warn birds so that they do not collide with the glass. All mechanical equipment, 

Page 13

https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT17ZO_CH17-29ININAR_17-29-010IN


Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

including the HVAC system, is screened.

West Elevation

Per the BMC Chapter 17-29, the building’s entrances shown above and in the following image are easily 
identifiable from the street and principal drive. The color palette is simple and complementary to other 
existing developments along this corridor. The glass is identified as being low-reflective. 

South Elevation 

The service station entrance is on the side elevations (east and west) or to the rear of the building with one 
garage service door at each side and an entry door for customers. Signage identifying the service area is 
shown above the garage door.

Landscaping and Lighting
The BMC Chapter 17-29 identifies landscaping requirements within the IIA overlay. The USR/URSP/SDP shows 
proposed landscaping around the perimeter of the site and interspersed in landscaped islands around the 
inventory and customer parking spaces, along the front of the lot, and next to the trash enclosure. The 
plantings provided will be drought-tolerant, with native grasses interspersed around the detention pond and 
the perimeter of the site. The landscaping around the stormwater detention pond is designed to soften the 
appearance of areas near but outside of the pond limits, per the design requirements of the BMC Chapter 
17-29.

The area reserved for inventory storage parking includes landscaped islands at the end of a row of storage 
spaces and includes a strip of landscaping in between the middle row to create a visual break. There are 
landscape beds planted along the lot line on the segment of the lot that shares a lot line with CDOT to the 
south/southwest. The strip of land conveyed along Industrial Lane for the new trail segment/bike lane will 
include trees, shrubs, and grasses. As noted above, the native grass is shown within areas around the 
perimeter of the lot to the southeast and around the stormwater detention pond. The entry drive includes 
planting materials with three height levels, including ground cover shrubs and canopy trees. The irrigation 
system and the corresponding hydrozone plan were reviewed and accepted by Broomfield’s landscape 
architect.

With the setbacks reduced around the property perimeters, the landscape buffers are also reduced in size 
and density of plantings and therefore require a variance. The variances are described in the Site Layout 
section above. While the application proposes setback and landscape variances due to the reduced setbacks, 
the proposed private open area comprising landscaping, walkways and stormwater detention comprises 

Page 14

https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT17ZO_CH17-29ININAR_17-29-010IN


Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

approximately 35% of the overall site, which exceeds the 25% requirement for commercial uses in a PUD 
district. The open area is landscaped with deciduous and evergreen trees, shrubs, and ornamental grasses. 
The Broomfield landscape architect reviewed and accepted the detailed landscape plan specifying 
placement, quality, quantity, and the implementation of drought-tolerant plantings. Tree mitigation is not 
required since there are no existing trees on the property.

The proposed exterior lighting shown throughout the parking lot and inventory storage area, and mounted 
on the building, meets full cutoff requirements since the light fixtures are shielded and directed downward. 
Notes are included on the lighting plan indicating that the exterior light fixtures meet dark sky standards 
that include full cutoff and shields. The photometric plan targets 0.0 footcandles at the edge of the 
property. The ground-mounted light fixtures that highlight automobile displays include a shield to direct the 
light toward the vehicle on the display pads.

Detention and Grading
The Broomfield Engineering Division has reviewed and accepted the grading plan, the final drainage report, 
and the design of the detention pond. The site slopes northerly along moderate grades. The proposed 
stormwater detention pond will be constructed on the north end of the property to provide water quality for 
this site. It will be screened from the US Highway 36 views with landscaping planted in an undulating 
pattern. The detention pond is appropriately sized to accommodate the drainage generated from 
precipitation events and runoff from this site. 

Variances
The following variances are requested with this proposal:

● Allow for an automobile sales and service facility on the subject site within the Interchange Influence 
Area, specific to this site and subject to Use by Special Review (USR) approval as required by the 
urban renewal area plan for the area.

● Allow reduced setbacks from the adjacent Industrial Lane (minor arterial connector roadway 
classification) and around the perimeter of the lot. The reduced setback from the road is due to a 
landscaped buffer on property previously deeded to Broomfield for trail improvements. The reduced 
setbacks around the perimeter of the lot are due to the irregular shape of the lot.

● Allow for reduced width of landscaped planting beds due to the reduction of setbacks around the 
perimeter of the lot.

The variances are described in greater detail in the Site Layout section above and are summarized on the 
PUD Plan with the applicant’s justification. Overall, the site's private open area, which includes landscaping, 
comprises 35% of the site which exceeds the minimum 25% required for commercial properties with PUD 
zoning.

Public Land Dedication (PLD)
This application does not require a public land dedication since it is a commercial use.

Income Aligned Housing
Income-aligned housing does not apply to this proposal since it is a commercial use. 

Page 15



Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

Subdivision Improvement Agreement
The subject proposal includes a three-party subdivision improvement agreement (SIA) between the property 
owner, developer, and the City and County of Broomfield (City). This agreement includes an itemized list of 
public improvements and associated cost estimates (Exhibit C) for the development. This agreement is 
subject to approval by the City Manager’s Office following the council's action on the development proposal. 
The special provisions of the agreement are summarized below:

15.0 Special Provisions.

15.1 Completion of Public and Private Improvements.

15.1.1. Public Improvements. Prior to the issuance of the first certificate of occupancy for any buildings 
constructed on the Property, or for a phase of the development if applicable, all public improvements listed 
in Exhibit C and as shown on the Site Plans and the approved construction plans shall be completed, 
inspected and approved for public use by the construction inspection supervisor. As provided in the Section 
5.0 above, the Developer remains responsible for all maintenance of the Improvements until the 
Construction Acceptance into Warranty has been issued.

15.1.2. Private Improvements. Prior to the issuance of the first certificate of occupancy for any building 
constructed on the Property, or for a phase of the development if applicable, the Developer shall complete 
all private improvements listed in Exhibit C and shown on the Site Plans and the approved construction 
plans, including but not limited to sidewalks and landscaping, unless other arrangements acceptable to the 
City have been made for the completion of the private improvements.

15.2. Regional Trail Segment. The Owner conveyed to the City and County of Broomfield 6,390 square feet 
of right of way for the purposes of a regional trail segment to be constructed by the City along Industrial 
Lane as part of a larger capital improvement project for the area. The Developer shall pay $9,330 in cash in 
lieu of constructing the regional trail segment that will run parallel to the subject property. The cash in lieu 
of trail payment shall be required prior to issuance of the building permit for the development.

15.2.1. Landscaping Along Regional Trail Segment. The Developer shall install irrigation and landscaping 
along the regional trail segment parallel to Industrial Lane. The landscaping shall be installed per the 
landscape plan depicted on the Site Development Plan/Urban Renewal Site Plan/Use by Special Review, 
Brainard V Replat B, and shall be maintained by the Property Owner. Landscaping shall be installed after the 
trail construction is completed. The City anticipates the trail construction will begin in the Summer of 2025 
with a target completion of May 2026.

15.3. US Army Corps of Engineers Approval. The Army Corps of Engineers previously identified three 
wetlands on the subject property. The Developer is responsible for obtaining an updated Jurisdictional 
Determination for the site from the Army Corps of Engineers to determine if the project will impact any 
wetlands. The Developer is obligated to secure all necessary permits and approvals from the Army Corps of 
Engineers. Additionally, the Developer must submit these permits to the City Engineer for review before the 
approval of any engineering construction permits.

Page 16



Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

Neighborhood Outreach and Communication
The City and County of Broomfield's standard public notice requirements have been met for this case. These 
requirements include:

● Mailed notices to all property owners within 1,000 feet of the project boundaries a minimum of ten 
days in advance of the meeting.

● Posted sign(s) on the property a minimum of ten days in advance of the meeting to advertise the 
public hearing.

● Published notice in the newspaper (Broomfield Enterprise) more than five days before the hearing.

The applicant held the required neighborhood meeting for the proposed automobile dealership. The 
neighborhood meeting took place on April 17,   2024  . For more information about the meeting, please review 
the   summary notes  .

A project website was created for this development on the BroomfieldVoice platform for general 
information and public engagement. Staff provided general information and shared submittal documents on 
this page throughout the technical review process. That website can be accessed at 4101 Industrial Lane at 
Broomfield   Voice.com   Any public comments received in advance of the hearing will be added to the 
correspondence folder for this application.

STAFF REVIEW OF KEY ISSUES

The proposed automobile sales and service use that is prohibited by the 1991 adopted IIA overlay is also 
permitted by special review by the 2013 approved URA for the area. No key concerns regarding the proposed 
use were raised during the concept review meeting or LURC hearing, and there are other automotive sales 
businesses within this general area, both to the northwest and to the southeast. The PUD zoning of the 
property allows for custom zoning of the site if approved by the City Council. Therefore, staff has not 
identified the use as a key issue for this proposal. 

LAND USE REVIEW COMMISSION

On April 29, 2025, the Land Use Review Commission held a public hearing concerning the proposal. The 
commission voted unanimously to recommend approval of the subject proposal without any conditions. 

APPLICABLE MUNICIPAL CODE PROVISIONS

The City Council and Urban Renewal Authority review the Final Plat, Planned Unit Development Plan, and 
Use by Special Review, Site Development Plans/Urban Renewal Plans based on the following provisions of 
the Broomfield Municipal Code:

Final Plat Review Criteria

16-20-080 - Final plat; decision; city council.
Within thirty days of the conclusion of any public hearing conducted by the city council concerning a final 
plat, the city council shall adopt a resolution to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the final plat. 
The city council may also refer the final plat back to the land use review commission for further study. Once 
the city council issues a decision, the decision shall not be effective until fifteen calendar days after the 
date of the decision. No documents shall be recorded and no permits based on the decision shall be issued 
until after the fifteen day period has expired.

16-20-090 - Review standards.
The decisions of the land use review commission and the city council shall be based on whether the 
applicant has demonstrated that the proposed final plat meets the standards set forth in section 16-16-110, 

Page 17

https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT16SU_CH16-16PRPL_16-16-110REST
https://www.broomfieldvoice.com/4101-industrial-lane-hyundai-development
https://www.broomfieldvoice.com/4101-industrial-lane-hyundai-development
https://www.broomfieldvoice.com/4101-industrial-lane-hyundai-development
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1k2nMQ59xQwk4trUMdhel8NJ-dL8liEgD/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1k2nMQ59xQwk4trUMdhel8NJ-dL8liEgD/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1k2nMQ59xQwk4trUMdhel8NJ-dL8liEgD/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1k2nMQ59xQwk4trUMdhel8NJ-dL8liEgD/view?usp=sharing


Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

B.M.C., and is generally consistent with an approved preliminary plat, if there is one. No final plat will be 
approved until such maps, data, surveys, analyses, studies, reports, plans, designs, documents, and other 
supporting materials as may be required herein have been submitted and reviewed, and found to meet the 
planning, engineering, and surveying requirements of the city; provided, however, that the city engineer 
may waive any final plat requirement for good cause shown.

PUD Plan Review Criteria 

17-38-100 - PUD plan; hearing and notice; city council.
The city council shall hold a public hearing on the PUD plan. Notice shall be given in accordance with the 
provisions of chapter 17-52, B.M.C.

17-38-110 - PUD plan; decision; city council; recording.
(A) Within thirty days of the conclusion of its public hearing on the PUD plan, the city council shall adopt 

a resolution of approval, disapproval, or referral back to the land use review commission for further 
study. Once the city council issues a decision, the decision shall not be effective until 15 calendar 
days after the date of the decision. No documents shall be recorded and no permits based on the 
decision shall be issued until after the 15 day period has expired.

(B) The PUD plan shall include a legal description of the real property within the boundaries of the PUD 
plan and a vicinity map showing the location in the city of the PUD plan, which shall be recorded in 
the office of the director of recording, elections, and motor vehicles.

17-38-120 - PUD plan; review standards.
The recommendation of the land use review commission and the decision of the city council shall be based 
on whether the applicant has demonstrated that the proposed PUD plan meets the following standards:

(A) The proposal should be consistent with the intent of this chapter as set forth in section 17-38-010. 
(B) The proposal should be consistent with the master plan. 
(C) The proposal should identify and mitigate potential negative impacts on nearby properties, other 

areas of the city, and the city as a whole. 
(D) The proposal should identify and maximize potential positive impacts on nearby properties, other 

areas of the city, and the city as a whole. 
(E) The proposal should include adequate facilities for pedestrians, bicyclists, and motorists. 
(F) The proposal should include adequate public improvements (both on and off site) to be provided in a 

timely fashion. 
(G) The proposal should optimize conservation of energy, water, and other resources on a broad scale. 
(H) The land uses within the plan should be compatible with one another and with nearby properties. 
(I) The proposal should provide for open space at a rate of not less than 40% of the developable site in 

residential areas and 25% in other areas as provided in section 17-38-240 below. 
(J) The proposal should adequately provide for an organization for ownership and maintenance of any 

common areas. 
(K) The proposal should justify any proposed deviations from the Broomfield Municipal Code in terms of 

the overall quality of the plan.

17-38-130 - PUD plan; modification.
Any modification to an approved PUD plan requires the same review by the land use review commission and 
the city council as the original PUD plan.

Site Development Plans and Site Development Plan Amendments Review Criteria

17-38-220 - Review standards. 
The decisions of the land use review commission and the city council shall be based on whether the 
applicant has demonstrated that the proposed site development plan meets the following standards: 

Page 18



Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

(A) The proposal should be consistent with the intent of this chapter as set forth in section 17-38-
010. 
(B) The proposal should identify and mitigate potential negative impacts on nearby properties. 
(C) The proposal should identify and maximize potential positive impacts on nearby properties. 
(D) The proposal should include adequate facilities for pedestrians, bicyclists, and motorists. 
(E) The proposal should include adequate public improvements (both on and off site) to be 
provided in a timely fashion. 
(F) The proposal should optimize conservation of energy, water, and other resources on a site-
specific scale. 
(G) The  land  uses  within  the  plan  should  be  compatible  with  one  another  and  with  nearby 
properties. 
(H) The proposal should provide for open area at a rate of not less than 40% of the developable 
site in residential areas and 25% in other areas as provided in section 17-38-240 below. 
(I) The proposal should include any common areas serving the site, and adequate provisions 
should be made for the ownership and maintenance of such areas. 
(J) The proposal should justify any proposed deviations from the Broomfield Municipal Code in 
terms of the overall quality of the plan. 
(K) The proposal should be consistent with the approved PUD plan. 
(L) For residential-use PUD plans and site development plans, the proposal should be consistent 
with adopted uniform standards. 

Urban Renewal Site Plan

2-41-060 - Review of urban renewal site plans.
The commission shall hold a public hearing on urban renewal site plans and make recommendations to the 
Broomfield Urban Renewal Authority as to the conformity of the urban renewal site plans to applicable 
urban renewal plans and urban renewal design standards. To the extent the Broomfield Urban Renewal 
Authority has delegated its approval authority to the commission, the commission may, subject to a call-up 
by the city council consistent with section 17-38-190, B.M.C., approve, approve with conditions, or deny an 
urban renewal site plan based on the conformity of the urban renewal site plan to applicable urban renewal 
plans and urban renewal design standards.

Use by Special Review

17-30-050 Decision; conditions; land use review commission.
(A) The land use review commission shall hold a public hearing on the proposed use by special review 

application and approve, approve with conditions, or deny the proposed use by special review, based 
on the applicable factors noted in section 17-30-040, B.M.C. Once the land use review commission 
issues a determination, the determination shall not be final, and no permits based upon the 
determination shall be issued, for fifteen calendar days after the date of the determination, in order 
to allow time for the applicant to appeal, or for the city council to call-up the determination for 
further review, pursuant to section 17-30-055, B.M.C. If the decision is to approve with conditions, 
the resolution shall set forth the conditions and those requirements as deemed necessary to protect 
the health, safety, and welfare of the community.

(B) Notwithstanding the above,  in  such cases  where an applicant is  seeking approval  of  any of  the 
following, either as a part of an application for a use by special review or in relation thereto, the  
final decision on the use by special review shall be made by the city council:

(1) A site development plan for seven acres or greater;
(2) An urban renewal site plan for seven acres or greater;
(3) A use by special review that includes any oil and gas facilities or wireless communications 

facilities as an approved use; and
(4) A development agreement, reimbursement agreement, subdivision improvement agreement, 

or improvement agreement requiring a financial incentive or financial obligation to be paid by 

Page 19

https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT17ZO_CH17-38PLUNDE_IISIDEPL_17-38-190SIDEPLREDELAUSRECO


Genesis Dealership - Brainard V PUD Plan, Final Plat and USR/SDP/URSP 
Prepared By: Judy Hammer, Principal Planner

the city.
(C) For any use by special review that requires final approval by the city council pursuant to subsection  

(B)  herein,  the  land  use  review  commission  shall  adopt  a  resolution  recommending  approval, 
disapproval, or conditional approval of the use by special review, which shall be referred to the city 
council for final decision.

17-30-060 - Decision; city council.
The city council shall consider any recommendation it receives from the land use review commission and any 
matter that has been called-up by any member of the city council pursuant to section 17-30-055, B.M.C., at 
a public hearing. Upon closing the public hearing, the city council shall make a final decision of approval, or 
approval with conditions, or of denial. Factors to be considered are those specified in section 17-30-040, 
B.M.C. Once the city council issues a decision, the decision shall not be effective until fifteen calendar days 
after the date of the decision. No documents shall be recorded and no permits based on the decision shall 
be issued until after the fifteen day period has expired.

Page 20

https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT17ZO_CH17-30USPESPRE_17-30-055APCACO
https://library.municode.com/co/broomfield/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT17ZO_CH17-30USPESPRE_17-30-040NOREST


 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-91 

A Resolution Approving Brainard V Replat B (4101 Industrial Lane)  

Planned Unit Development Plan, Final Plat, Site Development Plan/ 

Urban Renewal Site Plan and Use by Special Review 

Recitals 

Whereas, the owner, Cars-DB4 LP and the applicant, Adragna Architecture + 

Development, submitted an application for a Planned Unit Development Plan, Final Plat and 

Site Development Plan/Urban Renewal Site Plan and Use by Special Review for an automotive 

dealership. 

Whereas, a public hearing was heard by the Land Use Review Commission on April 28, 

2025, at which time the Land Use Review Commission by formal resolution recommended 

approval of the proposal.  

 

Whereas, after proper notice was given in accordance with Chapter 17-52 of the 

Broomfield Municipal Code, a public hearing was heard by the City Council on June 3, 2025. 

 

Now, therefore, be it resolved by the City Council of the City and County of 

Broomfield, Colorado: 

Section 1. Findings  

Giving consideration to Broomfield Master Plan and the Broomfield Municipal Code, 

recommendations from the Land Use Review Commission, comments of public officials and 

agencies, and testimony and written comments of all interested parties, the City Council finds 

as follows: 

 

A. The proper posting, publication and public notice were provided as required by 

law for the hearings before the Land Use Review Commission and the City 

Council, and the Community Development case file is hereby incorporated into 

the record. 
 

B. That the hearing before the City Council was extensive and complete, that all 

pertinent facts, matters and issues were submitted and that all interested 

parties were heard at those hearings.   
 

PUD and SDP Findings: 
 

C. The proposal is consistent with the intent of the Planned Unit Development  

chapter as set forth in Section 17-38-010 of the Broomfield Municipal Code. 
 

D. The proposal is in general conformance with the master plan which designates 

the subject property as industrial which also allows some commercial uses. 
 

Page 1 



 

E. The proposal mitigates potential negative impacts on nearby properties, other 

areas of the city, and the city as a whole. 
 

F. The proposal maximizes potential positive impacts on nearby properties, other 

areas of the city, and the city as a whole. 
 

G. The proposal contains adequate facilities for pedestrians, bicyclists, and 

motorists. 
 

H. The proposal contains adequate public improvements (both on and off-site) to 

be provided in a timely fashion. 

 

I. The proposal optimizes conservation of energy, water, and other resources on a 

site-specific scale and on a broad scale. 

 

J. The land uses within the proposal are compatible with one another and with 

nearby properties. 

 

K. The proposal provides for open area at a rate of not less than 40% of the 

developable site in residential areas and 25% in other areas as provided in 

section 17-38-240 of the Broomfield Municipal Code. 

 

L. To the extent the proposal includes any common areas serving the site, 

adequate provisions are made for the ownership and maintenance of such 

areas. 

 

M. The proposed deviations to the setback requirements are reasonable in light of 

the unique shape of the lot and frontage to Industrial Lane, and allowing 

automobile sales and service will enhance the similar commercial uses in the 

area.  

 

N. The proposal is consistent with the approved PUD plan approved with this 

resolution. 

 

Additional Urban Renewal Findings 

 

 O. The proposal is consistent with the US 36 West Corridor Urban Renewal Plan 

and the I-25 Sub-Area Plan and its Design Guidelines and Standards. 

 

Additional Use by Special Review Findings 

 

 P. The Land Use Review Commission considered the requested uses with 

respect to the character of the surrounding neighborhood, the desirability and  

need for such a use in the specific area of the community, adverse  

environmental influence that might result from its location, and, compliance 

with the intent of the use by special review chapter and finds that the 

proposed development is in consistent with the intent of uses permitted by 

special review chapter and is compatible with the character of the surrounding 

area.   

Page 2 



 

Additional Final Plat Findings 

Q. The proposed final plat provides desirable settings for buildings, makes use of  

natural contours, protects the view, and affords privacy and protection from  

noise and traffic for residents and the public. 

 

R. The proposed final plat preserves natural features of the site to the extent  

Possible. 

 

S. The proposed final plat contains traffic flow and street locations consistent  

with the city's master plan, which are in accordance with good engineering  

practice, and provide for safe and convenient movement. 

 

T. The proposed final plat lot and tract are laid out to allow efficient use of the  

property to be platted. 

 

U. The proposed final plat public facilities and services are adequate, consistent  

with the city's utility planning, and capable of being provided in a timely and  

efficient manner. 

 

V. The proposed final plat complies with the design standards of chapter 16-28,  

B.M.C., the improvement requirements of chapter 16-32, B.M.C., and the  

standards and specifications of chapter 14-04, B.M.C. 

 

W. The proposed final plat is consistent with the need to minimize flood damage. 

 

X. The proposed final plat has public utilities and facilities, such as sewer, gas,  

electrical, and water systems, which are located and designed to minimize  

flood damage. 

 

Y. The proposed final plat has adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to  

flood damage. 

Section 2.  Action 

On the basis of the above and pursuant to the provisions of Chapters 16-20 and 17-38 of the 

Broomfield Municipal Code, the Brainard V Replat B Planned Unit Development Plan, Final 

Plat, Site Development Plan/Urban Renewal Site Plan and Use by Special Review is hereby 

approved.  

 

 

This resolution is effective on the date of approval by the City Council. 

 

 

 

Page 3 



 

Approved on June 3, 2025. 

  

 

      The City and County of Broomfield,  

      Colorado 

 

 

      _____________________________ 

      Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

__________________________ 

Office of the City and County Clerk 

       

 

      Approved As To Form:    

          NCR 
           

      ______________________________ 

      City and County Attorney 

 

 

 

Page 4 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-92-UR 

A Resolution Approving Brainard V Replat B (4101 Industrial Lane) Urban Renewal Site Plan 

Recitals 

Whereas, the owner, Cars-DB4 LP and the applicant, Adragna Architecture + 

Development, submitted an application for a Planned Unit Development Plan, Final Plat and 

Site Development Plan/Urban Renewal Site Plan and Use by Special Review for an automotive 

dealership; 

Whereas, a public hearing was heard by the Land Use Review Commission on April 28, 

2025, at which time the Land Use Review Commission by formal resolution recommended 

approval of the proposal;  

Whereas, after proper notice was given in accordance with Chapter 17-52 of the 

Broomfield Municipal Code, a public hearing was heard by the Broomfield Urban Renewal 

Authority on June 3, 2025. 

Now, therefore, be it resolved by the by the Broomfield Urban Renewal Authority: 

Section 1.  Findings 

Giving consideration to Urban Renewal Plan, Broomfield Master Plan and the Broomfield 

Municipal Code, recommendations from the Land Use Review Commission, comments of public 

officials and agencies, and testimony and written comments of all interested parties, the 

Authority makes the following findings: 

 

A. That proper posting and public notice was provided as required by law for the 

hearing before the Broomfield Urban Renewal Authority and the case file is 

hereby incorporated into the record. 

B. That the hearing before the Broomfield Urban Renewal Authority was extensive 

and complete, that all pertinent facts, matters, and issues were submitted and 

that all interested parties were heard at this hearing.  

C. The proposal is consistent with the US 36 West Corridor Urban Renewal Plan 

and the I-25 Sub-Area Plan and its Design Guidelines and Standards.  

D. The proposal mitigates potential negative impacts on nearby properties. 

E. The proposal maximizes potential positive impacts on nearby properties by 

bringing additional commerce to the area. 

F. The proposal contains adequate facilities for pedestrians, bicyclists, and 

motorists. 

Page 1 



 

G. The proposal optimizes conservation of energy, water, and other resources on a 

site-specific scale. 

H. The proposal only addresses the development on one parcel and is compatible 

with the mixed-use commercial area. 

I. To the extent the proposal includes any common areas serving the site, 

adequate provisions are made for the ownership and maintenance of such 

areas.   

J. The proposal contains adequate public improvements (both on and off site) to 

be provided in a timely fashion. 

Section 2.  Action 

On the basis of the above findings, the Broomfield Urban Renewal Authority hereby approves 

the Brainard V Replat B Urban Renewal Site Plan.  

 

This resolution is effective on the date of approval by the Broomfield Urban Renewal 

Authority. 

 

Approved on June 3, 2025. 

 

      Broomfield Urban Renewal Authority 

 

 

      _____________________________ 

      Chair 

Attest: 

 

 

__________________________ 

Secretary 

      Approved As To Form:    

     

           NCR 

      ______________________________ 

      City and County Attorney 

 

Page 2 



City and County of Broomfield

City Council Regular Meeting

C. Proposed Resolution Mile High Flood District (MHFD) Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) - Nissen Reservoir
Channel Concrete Trail

Meeting

Tuesday, June 3, 2025, 6:00 PM

Agenda Group

Action Items Item: 7C.

Presented By

Katie Allen

Community Goals

Overview

View Correspondence 

View Presentation

This request updates an existing Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with the Mile High Flood District (MHFD) to
contribute to the cost of construction for the Nissen Reservoir Channel project. An amendment is required each
time a contribution is budgeted (annually). The construction will commence once sufficient funding for the project
is committed through the IGA process. MHFD uses this process to allow sufficient funds to accumulate for a multi-
year period to fund projects exceeding the annual limit. 

 

 

 

Attachments

Memo - MHFD IGA - Nissen Reservoir Channel Improvements.pdf
Resolution 2025-76.pdf
IGA16-08.02_H_Nissen Reservoir Drainageway_MHFD and Broomfield.pdf

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e0c90248a0054864a6d%2FMemo%20-%20MHFD%20IGA%20-%20Nissen%20Reservoir%20Channel%20Improvements.pdf?alt=media&token=5b9edfad-1df5-464f-b03b-ec1bb43be430
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e0c90248a0054864a6d%2FMemo%20-%20MHFD%20IGA%20-%20Nissen%20Reservoir%20Channel%20Improvements.pdf?alt=media&token=5b9edfad-1df5-464f-b03b-ec1bb43be430
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e0c90248a0054864a6d%2FMemo%20-%20MHFD%20IGA%20-%20Nissen%20Reservoir%20Channel%20Improvements.pdf?alt=media&token=5b9edfad-1df5-464f-b03b-ec1bb43be430
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e0c90248a0054864a6d%2FResolution%202025-76.pdf?alt=media&token=0e59893a-c83d-47fa-acd6-657feb31faeb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e0c90248a0054864a6d%2FResolution%202025-76.pdf?alt=media&token=0e59893a-c83d-47fa-acd6-657feb31faeb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e0c90248a0054864a6d%2FResolution%202025-76.pdf?alt=media&token=0e59893a-c83d-47fa-acd6-657feb31faeb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e0c90248a0054864a6d%2FIGA16-08.02_H_Nissen%20Reservoir%20Drainageway_MHFD%20and%20Broomfield.pdf?alt=media&token=f6468522-a9d5-4d98-b368-a9c85a3e27d5
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e0c90248a0054864a6d%2FIGA16-08.02_H_Nissen%20Reservoir%20Drainageway_MHFD%20and%20Broomfield.pdf?alt=media&token=f6468522-a9d5-4d98-b368-a9c85a3e27d5
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e0c90248a0054864a6d%2FIGA16-08.02_H_Nissen%20Reservoir%20Drainageway_MHFD%20and%20Broomfield.pdf?alt=media&token=f6468522-a9d5-4d98-b368-a9c85a3e27d5


Summary
View Correspondence
View Presentation

This request amends an existing Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with the Mile High Flood District (MHFD) 
to contribute to additional funding for the Nissen Reservoir Channel project. An amendment is required each 
time a contribution is budgeted (annually). MHFD uses this process to allow sufficient funds to accumulate  
for a multi-year period to fund projects exceeding the annual limit. In general, MHFD pays 50% of the 
drainage  improvements  using  funds  collected  through  mills.  Broomfield  pays  the  remaining  50%.  MHFD 
manages the project. For this amendment, contributions from private developers are being allocated to 
advance Phase 2 of the project.

Background

For  the  past  several  years,  the  MHFD  has  been  working  with  Broomfield  to  design,  acquire 
right-of-way/easements, and construct drainage and flood control improvements for the Nissen Reservoir 
Channel from approximately Tennyson Street to the west side of Lowell Blvd. This area is from immediately 
upstream of  the  constructed  improvements  under  Lowell  Blvd.  to  the  east  side  of  Walmart  near  the 
Cimarron  neighborhood.  The  area  between  these  limits  is  a  narrow  channel  and  wide  floodplain  with 
multiple locations of flow spills  and bank overtopping. The effective floodplain impacts businesses and 
overtops Perry Street during significant precipitation events. The work includes obtaining all required local, 
state, and federal permits (including environmental). Here is a link to the construction plans.

Once  completed,  the  improvements  are  expected  to  provide  an  adequate  drainage  path  along  Nissen 
Reservoir Channel and reduce floodplain and flood risk to life and property. Construction will include a  
maintenance access path that will provide a trail connection.

In October 2016, City Council approved an intergovernmental agreement (IGA) with MHFD by Resolution No. 
2016-169, authorizing $260,000 in matching funds for design, right-of-way acquisition, and construction for  
drainage  and  flood  control  improvements  for  Nissen  Reservoir  Channel.  Council  subsequently  approved 
annual  amendments  to the IGA in 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023, allocating additional 
funding. With the 2023 allocation, the project had sufficient funds available to begin Phase 1 of the project  
from Lowell Blvd. to upstream of Perry Street. Construction of Phase 1 began in September 2024 and is  
anticipated to be complete in August 2025. 

Adjacent  property  owners  will  be  responsible  for  contributing  funds  for  the  project  as  the  properties  
develop.  A reimbursement Agreement between the City, BURA, and Wasatch Residential Group, LLC (WRG) 
was approved in November 2024 to advance $2,000,000 for the project by WRG. A reimbursement of $1.0M 
will be paid to WRG by BURA utilizing tax increment financing from any increase to property and sales/use 
taxes generated by the future development of the property. Broomfield Open Space allocated $270,000 for  
the trail along Phase 1. The maintenance path is required for MHFD projects. With the contribution from 
Open Space, the required path has been upgraded to a ten-foot-wide concrete multipurpose trail.  These 
funds will be allocated to the Nissen Channel project with this proposed amendment, along with $8,400  
from the Open Space Miscellaneous CIP fund, which is intended to cover the cost of a safety rail that is  
needed for a portion of the extension.
 

The current project cost estimate for design, right-of-way acquisition, and construction is $7,846,000 for 
Phase 1 (previously funded and under construction) and $4,860,000 for Phase 2. This amendment partially 
funds Phase 2.  Broomfield’s and MHFD’s 2025 CIP funds are being allocated to the City Park Channel project 
so  that  construction  can  be  coordinated  with  the  Broomfield  Town  Square.  Beginning  again  in  2026, 
additional funding will be programmed in the CIP fund to match MHFD’s annual allocation until the project  
is fully funded. When the design for Phase 2 is complete, the cost estimate will be updated. Any scope 
changes shall  have general concurrence from Broomfield before issuing amendments. No cost-increasing 

Page 1

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1RX3kFrJy0FFFNr2XXcCssrSrGluia9u0/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1EK4POKzfsenErp5c8HdSdL650jUB3qFR/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82


changes will be approved unless additional funds are committed by MHFD and Broomfield.

Proposed Resolution No. 2025-76 approves Amendment H to the IGA with MHFD for the design, right-of-way 
acquisition, and construction of improvements for Nissen Reservoir Channel. The proposed IGA Amendment 
authorizes Broomfield’s 2025 contribution of $2,278,400 and is attached to the resolution. These funds are  
made up  from a  combination  of  contributions  provided by  adjacent  property  owners  whose  properties 
benefit from the improvements and Broomfield’s Open Space and Trails Department. Proposed Resolution 
No. 2025-76 contains the necessary actions to execute an amendment to the IGA.
 
Pursuant to the City Charter, an intergovernmental agreement requires a two-thirds affirmative vote of the  
entire City Council for approval.

Financial Considerations

As shown in the sources and uses of funds summary below, the project can be completed with the additional 
contributed funds.

Sources and Uses of Funds Amount

Fund 1 (45-0000-46100) WRG Contribution (Channel Improvements) $2,000,000

Fund 2 (20-70070-55200) Open Space Contribution (Nissen Reservoir 
Channel Trail and Safety Rail)

$278,400

Nissen Channel Improvements (Lowell to Tennyson) -$2,278,400

Projected Balance $0

Prior Council or Other Entity Actions

Prior Council Action (provide links to memo)

● Resolution Nos. 2016-169, 2017-142, 2018-208, 2019-133, 2020-212, 2021-93, 2022-45, and 2023-53 were 
approved by City Council in their respective years.

● Funds for this project were approved by Council in the 2025 CIP Budget.

Boards and Commissions Prior Actions and Recommendations

N/A

Proposed Actions / Recommendations

If Council desires to proceed with the project, the appropriate motion is...
That Resolution 2025-76 be adopted.

Alternatives

Do not proceed with the project and proposed intergovernmental agreement.

Page 2

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1oCJnHGHS6HqU8Hlh7PAm1SdbWUd_6VG0/view?usp=drivesdk
https://drive.google.com/file/d/18v3CbNb--pOicsekySiuixDMZpPrL2d_/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/13miukyu7LcXO9PiaORnJsJ2h1Awo8D_J/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1sYGyWxcfAeRr67Fc1Gv0GLhCIeZEOIAj/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1F4c4NFsw7f1T3AvdDmKcPek3qZ4-r1-4/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1hp0ARgrRhAztgfIyx3fzGHc2dpO3YEWz/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B6G0KFwvQuFvZlh4SDN4c1FhSm8/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1n0TPOZ8zDL9M4R5YbQMztAjII9j7xWeR/view?usp=drivesdk


RESOLUTION NO. 2025-76

A resolution approving the Eighth Amendment to the Agreement with Mile High Flood District 
for Design and Construction of Drainage and Flood Control Improvements for the Nissen 

Reservoir Channel Improvements

Be it resolved by the City Council of the City and County of Broomfield, Colorado:

Section 1. 
The Eighth Amendment to the Agreement Regarding Design and Construction of Drainage and 
Flood Control Improvements for the Nissen Reservoir Channel between the City and County of 
Broomfield and Mile High Flood District is hereby approved.

Section 2.
The Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem is authorized to sign and the Office of the City and County Clerk 
to attest the Agreement, in form approved by the City and County Attorney. 

Section 3.

This resolution is effective upon its approval by the City Council.

Approved on June 3, 2025

The City and County of Broomfield, Colorado

                                                                        
          
Mayor

Attest:

                                                                        
Office of the City and County Clerk

Approved as to form:
NCR

                                                                        
          

Page 1
Revised 5/2025



City and County Attorney

Page 2
Revised 5/2025



Agreement No. 16-08.02H 1 

AMENDMENT TO 
AGREEMENT REGARDING 

FINAL DESIGN, RIGHT-OF-WAY ACQUISITION, AND CONSTRUCTION  
OF DRAINAGE AND FLOOD CONTROL IMPROVEMENTS FOR 

NISSEN RESERVOIR DRAINAGEWAY, LOWELL BOULEVARD TO TENNYSON STREET 
CITY AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD 

 
Agreement No. 16-08.02H 

Project No. 106302 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT, by and between URBAN DRAINAGE AND FLOOD CONTROL 
DISTRICT D/BA/ MILE HIGH FLOOD DISTRICT (hereinafter called "DISTRICT") and CITY AND 
COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD (hereinafter called "COUNTY") and collectively known as "PARTIES";  
 WITNESSETH: 
 WHEREAS, PARTIES have entered into "Agreement Regarding Final Design, Right-of-Way 
Acquisition, and Construction of Drainage and Flood Control Improvements for Nissen Reservoir 
Drainageway, Lowell Boulevard to Tennyson Street, City and County of Broomfield" (Agreement No. 
16-08.02) dated November 9, 2016, as amended; and 
 WHEREAS, PARTIES now desire to construct improvements at Nissen Reservoir Drainageway, 
Lowell Boulevard to Tennyson Street; and  
 WHEREAS, PARTIES desire to increase the level of funding by $2,278,400; and 
 WHEREAS, DISTRICT's Board of Directors has authorized additional DISTRICT financial 
participation for PROJECT (Resolution No. 09, Series of 2023); and  
 WHEREAS, the County Commissioners of COUNTY and the Board of Directors of DISTRICT 
have authorized, by appropriation or resolution, all of PROJECT costs of the respective PARTIES. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, PARTIES hereto 
agree as follows: 

1. Paragraph 4. PROJECT COSTS AND ALLOCATION OF COSTS is deleted and replaced as 
follows: 
4. PROJECT COSTS AND ALLOCATION OF COSTS 

A. PARTIES agree that for the purposes of this Agreement PROJECT costs shall consist 
of and be limited to the following: 
1. Final design services; 
2. Delineation, description and acquisition of required rights-of-way/ easements; 
3. Construction of improvements; 
4. Contingencies mutually agreeable to PARTIES.   

B. It is understood that PROJECT costs as defined above are not to exceed $8,878,400 
without amendment to this Agreement.   
 

  



Agreement No. 16-08.02H 2 

PROJECT costs for the various elements of the effort are estimated as follows: 
     PREVIOUSLY 
  ITEM  AS AMENDED AMENDED 
 1. Final Design $   900,000 $   900,000 
 2. Right-of-way $   100,000 $   100,000 
 3. Construction $7,100,000 $5,100,000 
 4. Contingency $   778,400 $   500,000 
  Grand Total $8,878,400 $6,600,000 

This breakdown of costs is for estimating purposes only.  Costs may vary between the 
various elements of the effort without amendment to this Agreement provided the 
total expenditures do not exceed the maximum contribution by all PARTIES plus 
accrued interest. 

C. Based on total PROJECT costs, the maximum percent and dollar contribution by each 
party shall be: 

 

  Percentage 
Share  

Previously 
Contributed 

Additional 
Contribution 

Maximum 
Contribution 

DISTRICT  37.1% $3,300,000  - $3,300,000 
COUNTY  62.9% $3,300,000 $2,278,400 $5,578,400 
TOTAL  100.00% $6,600,000 $2,278,400 $8,878,400 

 
2. Paragraph 5. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCES is deleted and replaced as follows: 

5. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCES 
As set forth in DISTRICT policy (Resolution No. 11, Series of 1973; Resolution No. 49, 
Series of 1977; and Resolution No. 37, Series of 2009), the funding of a local body's share 
may come from its own revenue sources or from funds received from state, federal, or other 
sources of funding without limitation and without prior Board approval. 
Payment of each party's full share (COUNTY - $5,578,400; DISTRICT - $3,300,000) shall 
be made to DISTRICT subsequent to execution of this Agreement and within 30 days of 
request for payment by DISTRICT.  The payments by PARTIES shall be held by DISTRICT 
in a special fund to pay for increments of PROJECT as authorized by PARTIES, and as 
defined herein.  DISTRICT shall provide a periodic accounting of PROJECT funds as well 
as a periodic notification to COUNTY of any unpaid obligations.  Any interest earned by the 
monies contributed by PARTIES shall be accrued to the special fund established by 
DISTRICT for PROJECT and such interest shall be used only for PROJECT upon approval 
by the contracting officers (Paragraph 13). 
Within one year of completion of PROJECT if there are monies including interest earned 
remaining which are not committed, obligated, or disbursed, each party shall receive a share 
of such monies, which shares shall be computed as were the original shares; or at COUNTY 



Agreement No. 16-08.02H 3 

request, COUNTY share of remaining monies shall be transferred to another special fund 
held by DISTRICT. 

3. All other terms and conditions of Agreement No. 16-08.02 shall remain in full force and effect. 
 WHEREFORE, PARTIES hereto have caused this instrument to be executed by properly 
authorized signatories as of the date and year first above written. 
 
 URBAN DRAINAGE AND 
 FLOOD CONTROL DISTRICT D/B/A 
 MILE HIGH FLOOD DISTRICT 
 
 
 By  
 
 ___________ Name   Laura A. Kroeger  
   Checked By 
 Title   Executive Director  
 
 Date  
 
 
 CITY AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD 
 
 
 By  
 
 Name Guyleen Castriotta  
 
 Title Mayor  
 
 Date  
 
 ATTEST: 
 
   
  
 ASSISTANT CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
   
 
 APPROVED TO FORM: 
 
   
 
 Assistant City and County Attorney 
 
 



City and County of Broomfield

City Council Regular Meeting

D. Proposed Resolution Mile High Flood District Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) - City Park Channel at Main
St Improvements

Meeting

Tuesday, June 3, 2025, 6:00 PM

Agenda Group

Action Items Item: 7D.

Presented By

Katie Allen

Community Goals

☑ Thriving, Diverse, Safe and Welcoming Community

Overview

View Correspondence

View Presentation

This resolution would approve the second amendment to the intergovernmental agreement (IGA) with Mile High
Flood District (MHFD) and contributes funds budgeted in Broomfield County’s 2025 Capital Funds and 2025
Maintenance funds and City and County of Broomfield Capital Improvement Project (CIP) funds for improvements
on City Park Channel, Phase 1 (from upstream of Spader Way to 300 feet upstream of Main Street), including a new
pedestrian underpass at Main Street.

 

 

 

Attachments

Memo - MHFD IGA - City Park Channel & Main St Improvements.pdf
Resolution 2025-77.pdf
IGA23-08.14_B_City Park Channel at Main Street_MHFD and Broomfield.pdf

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e3390248a0054864af3%2FMemo%20-%20MHFD%20IGA%20-%20City%20Park%20Channel%20%26%20Main%20St%20Improvements.pdf?alt=media&token=cf245a56-7e82-4117-a2f4-ef2e295461c4
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e3390248a0054864af3%2FMemo%20-%20MHFD%20IGA%20-%20City%20Park%20Channel%20%26%20Main%20St%20Improvements.pdf?alt=media&token=cf245a56-7e82-4117-a2f4-ef2e295461c4
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e3390248a0054864af3%2FMemo%20-%20MHFD%20IGA%20-%20City%20Park%20Channel%20%26%20Main%20St%20Improvements.pdf?alt=media&token=cf245a56-7e82-4117-a2f4-ef2e295461c4
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e3390248a0054864af3%2FResolution%202025-77.pdf?alt=media&token=b927ab3c-bffc-4a8f-b612-7fc7f136b046
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e3390248a0054864af3%2FResolution%202025-77.pdf?alt=media&token=b927ab3c-bffc-4a8f-b612-7fc7f136b046
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e3390248a0054864af3%2FResolution%202025-77.pdf?alt=media&token=b927ab3c-bffc-4a8f-b612-7fc7f136b046
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e3390248a0054864af3%2FIGA23-08.14_B_City%20Park%20Channel%20at%20Main%20Street_MHFD%20and%20Broomfield.pdf?alt=media&token=18a333b3-d69a-4a68-a3ab-51a993dd8922
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e3390248a0054864af3%2FIGA23-08.14_B_City%20Park%20Channel%20at%20Main%20Street_MHFD%20and%20Broomfield.pdf?alt=media&token=18a333b3-d69a-4a68-a3ab-51a993dd8922
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F67883e3390248a0054864af3%2FIGA23-08.14_B_City%20Park%20Channel%20at%20Main%20Street_MHFD%20and%20Broomfield.pdf?alt=media&token=18a333b3-d69a-4a68-a3ab-51a993dd8922


Memo for an IGA with MHFD for City Park Channel improvements at Main Street
Prepared By: Rebecca Baker

Summary
View Correspondence
View Presentation

This resolution approves the second amendment to the intergovernmental agreement (IGA) with Mile High 
Flood District (MHFD) and contributes funds budgeted in Broomfield County’s 2025 Capital Funds and 2025 
Maintenance funds and City and County of Broomfield CIP funds for improvements on City Park Channel, 
Phase 1 (from upstream of Spader Way to 300 feet upstream of Main Street), including a new pedestrian 
underpass at Main Street. Here is a vicinity map for the project. 

Once  completed,  the  improvements  will  eliminate  Main  Street  overtopping  during  a  flood  condition, 
reducing risk to life and property.  The larger culvert under Main Street will also serve as a pedestrian  
underpass, improving pedestrian safety.  The channel improvements downstream of Main Street will reduce 
the floodway and floodplain width to allow for construction of the Broomfield Town Square development. 
Construction of Phase 1 is expected to begin in late 2026.

Phase 1 includes the channel from the existing pond northwest of the Community Park Drive and Spader Way 
intersection to approximately 300 feet upstream (west) of Main Street and includes a pedestrian underpass 
at Main Street. The Broomfield Town Square (BTS) is responsible for constructing the portion of the City 
Park  Channel  improvements  within  Community  Park  to  approximately  300  feet  downstream from Main 
Street. Although there is no reason to believe BTS will not move forward, if the BTS development does not  
move forward, MHFD and Broomfield would need to construct the full reach to the existing pond, including  
the  BTS  portion,  due  to  changes  in  the  channel  bottom  elevation  and  Broomfield  would  then  seek 
reimbursement from BTS in the future.

Broomfield’s  consultant,  Muller  Engineering (Muller),  has coordinated with the Broomfield Town Square 
Alliance (BTSA) consultant, Wilson and Company, on the design. With input from BTSA, Muller completed 
60% plans and prepared a Conditional Letter of Map Revision (CLOMR). The CLOMR was issued by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) in March 2025. 

Maintenance and Capital Funds are collected by MHFD from participating counties through mills to finance  
drainage  improvements  specific  to  those  counties.  Broomfield’s  annual  allocation  from  MHFD  is 
approximately $490,000 for maintenance work and $720,000 for capital improvement projects. 

The design work for the City Park Channel, Phase 1 project began in 2020 as a maintenance project with the 
Mile High Flood District (MHFD). Unlike construction projects, such as the improvements on Nissen Reservoir  
Channel, maintenance projects do not require a 50/50 funding match from the local jurisdiction. As a result, 
design  work,  hydraulic  modeling,  and the  Conditional  Letter  of  Map Revision (CLOMR)  preparation and 
submittal for the City Park Channel improvements began using maintenance funds before approving an IGA 
between Broomfield and MHFD.

Broomfield entered into an initial IGA with MHFD in October 2023 to allocate Broomfield’s 2023 capital funds 
and MHFD’s 2023 maintenance and capital funds to the project. The original IGA funding was $3,660,644. 
MHFD  contributed  an  additional  $1,052,000  in  capital  and  maintenance  funds  in  2024.   This  second 
amendment contributes $2,500,000 from Broomfield’s capital budget and $1,120,000 from MHFD capital and 
maintenance funds for improvements along City Park Channel, including constructing a pedestrian underpass 
at Main Street. The total IGA is $8,332,644.

Proposed Resolution No. 2025-77 approves an amendment to the IGA that would contribute Broomfield's  
budgeted funds to MHFD for the project and contains the necessary actions to execute the attached IGA. If  
amendments are needed in future years to add funds from Broomfield CIP and/or MHFD to complete Phase 1  
  

1

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1OI-aMXff5Cm40BPUJ5D7wWV2QImCGCpT/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1k3UpWTqzGhH6VZbiTh6mbTwdUATEfgf5/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82


or future phases, an IGA amendment will be brought to Council.

Pursuant to the City Charter, an intergovernmental agreement requires a two-thirds affirmative vote of the 
entire City Council for approval.

Financial Considerations

As shown in the sources and uses of funds summary below, the project can be completed within the 
budgeted amount.

Sources and Uses of Funds Amount

Previous Broomfield Contributions (2023 Sewer Fund, 16K0052, 45-
70020-55200)

$3,170,644

Previous MHFD Capital Improvement and Maintenance Contributions $1,542,000

2025 Sewer Fund -City Park Channel Improvements (16K0052, 45-70020-
55200)

$2,500,000

MHFD Capital Improvement and Maintenance Funding 2025 $1,120,000

Total 2025 Budget $8,332,644

Design -$495,000

Construction -$6,837,644

Contingency -$1,000,000

Projected Balance $0

Prior Council or Other Entity Actions

Prior Council Action adoption of Resolution 2024-87, September 24, 2024; Resolution No. 2023-127, October 

10, 2023 

Boards and Commissions Prior Actions and Recommendations

N/A

Proposed Actions / Recommendations

If Council desires to proceed with the project; the appropriate motion is...
That Resolution 2025-77 be adopted.

Alternatives

Do not proceed with the project and proposed intergovernmental agreement.

2

https://drive.google.com/file/d/18iWCIG0w0tAdql_ysSCOlnRoui1LUOku/view?usp=drivesdk
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1G0OgqDPSKTicCQRxbAyUE1iEOQZD3D4i/view?usp=drivesdk


RESOLUTION NO. 2025-77
A resolution approving the Second Amendment to Agreement with Mile High Flood District for 

Design and Construction of Drainage and Flood Control Improvements for the City Park 
Channel at Main Street

Be it resolved by the City Council of the City and County of Broomfield, Colorado:

Section 1. 
The Second Amendment to Agreement Regarding Design and Construction of Drainage and 
Flood Control Improvements for the City Park Channel at Main Street between the City and 
County of Broomfield and Mile High Flood District is hereby approved.

Section 2.
The Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem is authorized to sign and the Office of the City and County Clerk 
to attest the Agreement, in form approved by the City and County Attorney. 

Section 3.

This resolution is effective upon its approval by the City Council.

Approved on June 3, 2025

The City and County of Broomfield, Colorado

                                                                        
          
Mayor

Attest:

                                                                        
Office of the City and County Clerk

Approved as to form:
NCR

                                                                        
          
City and County Attorney

Page 1
Revised 3/2024



23-08.14B 1 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO 
AGREEMENT REGARDING 

DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF 
DRAINAGE AND FLOOD CONTROL IMPROVEMENTS FOR 

CITY PARK DRAINAGEWAY AT MAIN STREET 
 

Agreement No. 23-08.14B 
Project No. 106760 

 
 THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT (hereinafter called “SECOND 
AMENDMENT”), by and between URBAN DRAINAGE AND FLOOD CONTROL DISTRICT D/B/A 
MILE HIGH FLOOD DISTRICT (hereinafter called “DISTRICT”) and CITY AND COUNTY OF 
BROOMFIELD (hereinafter called “COUNTY”) and collectively known as “PARTIES”; 
 WITNESSETH: 
 WHEREAS, PARTIES have entered into “Agreement Regarding Design and Construction of 
Drainage and Flood Control Improvements for City Park Drainageway at Main Street” (Agreement No. 
23-08.14) dated October 17, 2023; as amended, (hereinafter called “AGREEMENT”); and 
 WHEREAS, PARTIES now desire to continue design and pursue construction of drainage and 
flood control improvements for City Park Drainageway at Main Street (hereinafter called “PROJECT”); 
and 
 WHEREAS, PARTIES desire to increase the level of funding by $3,620,000; and 
 WHEREAS, DISTRICT's Board of Directors has authorized additional DISTRICT financial 
participation for PROJECT (Resolution No. 36, Series of 2025); and  
 WHEREAS, the County Commissioners of COUNTY and the Board of Directors of DISTRICT 
have authorized, by appropriation or resolution, all of PROJECT costs of the respective PARTIES. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, PARTIES hereto 
agree as follows: 

1. Paragraph 4. PROJECT COSTS AND ALLOCATION OF COSTS is deleted and replaced as 
follows: 
4. PROJECT COSTS AND ALLOCATION OF COSTS 

A. PARTIES agree that for the purposes of this AGREEMENT, PROJECT costs shall 
consist of and be limited to the following: 
1. Final design services; 
2. Delineation, description and acquisition of required rights-of-way/ easements; 
3. Construction of improvements; 
4. Contingencies mutually agreeable to PARTIES. 

B. It is understood that PROJECT costs as defined above are not to exceed $8,332,644 
without amendment to this AGREEMENT. 
PROJECT costs for the various elements of the effort are estimated as follows: 
 



23-08.14B 2 

ITEM 
AS AMENDED 

PREVIOUSLY 
AMENDED 

1. Final Design $495,000 $375,000 
2. Right-of-way - - 
3. Construction $6,837,644 $3,837,644 
4. Contingency $1,000,000 $500,000 

Grand Total $8,332,644 $4,712,644 
This breakdown of costs is for estimating purposes only. Costs may vary between the 
various elements of the effort without amendment to this AGREEMENT provided the 
total expenditures do not exceed the maximum contribution by all PARTIES plus 
accrued interest. 

C. Based on total PROJECT costs, the maximum percent and dollar contribution by each
party shall be:

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUNDING 
Percentage 

Share 
Previously 
Contributed 

Additional 
Contribution 

Maximum 
Contribution 

DISTRICT 31.95% $720,000 $720,000 $1,440,000 

COUNTY 68.05% $3,170,644 $2,500,000 $5,670,644 

TOTAL 100.00% $3,890,644 $3,220,000 $6,390,644 

MAINTENANCE FUNDING 
Percentage 

Share 
Previously 
Contributed 

Additional 
Contribution 

Maximum 
Contribution 

DISTRICT 100.00% $822,000 $400,000 $1,222,000 

TOTAL 100.00% $822,000 $400,000 $1,222,000 

TOTAL FUNDING 
CAPITAL 
FUNDING 

MAINTENANCE 
FUNDING 

TOTAL 
CONTRIBUTION 

DISTRICT $1,440,000 $1,222,000 $2,662,000 

COUNTY $5,670,644 - $5,670,644 

TOTAL $7,110,644 $1,222,000 $8,332,644 

2. Paragraph 5. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCES is deleted and replaced as follows:
5. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCES

As set forth in DISTRICT policy (Resolution No. 11, Series of 1973, Resolution No. 49,
Series of 1977, and Resolution No. 37, Series of 2009), the funding of a local body's share



23-08.14B 3 

may come from its own revenue sources or from funds received from state, federal or other 
sources of funding without limitation and without prior DISTRICT approval. 
Payment of each PARTY's full share (COUNTY - $5,670,644; DISTRICT - $2,662,000) 
shall be made to DISTRICT subsequent to execution of this AGREEMENT and within 30 
days of request for payment by DISTRICT. The payments by PARTIES shall be held by 
DISTRICT in a special fund to pay for increments of PROJECT as authorized by PARTIES, 
and as defined herein. DISTRICT shall provide a periodic accounting of PROJECT funds as 
well as a periodic notification to COUNTY of any unpaid obligations. Any interest earned 
by the monies contributed by PARTIES shall be accrued to the special fund established by 
DISTRICT for PROJECT and such interest shall be used only for PROJECT upon approval 
by the contracting officers (Paragraph 13). 
Within one year of completion of PROJECT if there are monies including interest earned 
remaining which are not committed, obligated, or disbursed, each party shall receive a share 
of such monies, which shares shall be computed as were the original shares; or at COUNTY 
request, COUNTY share of remaining monies shall be transferred to another special fund 
held by DISTRICT. 

3. All other terms and conditions of this AGREEMENT shall remain in full force and effect. 
 WHEREFORE, PARTIES hereto have caused this SECOND AMENDMENT to be executed by 
properly authorized signatories as of the date and year written below. 
 

URBAN DRAINAGE AND  
FLOOD CONTROL DISTRICT D/B/A  

 MILE HIGH FLOOD DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 By  
 
 ___________ Name   Laura A. Kroeger  
   Checked By 
 Title   Executive Director  

 
Date  

 
  



23-08.14B 4 

 CITY AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD 
 
 
 By  
 
 Name  
 
 Title  
 
 Date  

 



City and County of Broomfield

City Council Regular Meeting

E. Proposed Resolution Relating to Front Range Passenger Rail District

Meeting

Tuesday, June 3, 2025, 6:00 PM

Agenda Group

Action Items Item: 7E.

Presented By

Nancy Rodgers, City and County Attorney

Community Goals

Overview

View Correspondence 

View Presentation

 

On May 13, 2025, Councilmember Ward brought forward a request for future action regarding a resolution relating
to Front Range Passenger Rail (FRPR) District and Regional Transportation District (RTD) Joint Services. After
discussion, Council determined that a policy set by resolution would be beneficial and directed staff to prepare
such a resolution.   Resolution No. 2025-102 would approve a letter from the City Council to Governor Jared S.
Polis; the FRPR Board of Directors; the RTD Board of Directors; the Executive Director of the Colorado Department
of Transportation; the Transportation Commission of Colorado; the Colorado Senate Transportation & Energy
Committee; and the Colorado House Transportation & Local Government Committee. 

 

 

 

Attachments

Memo - Proposed Resolution Relating to Front Range Passenger Rail District and RTD Joint Services.pdf
Resolution 2025-102 Regarding Front Range Passenger Rail .pdf

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1zpSo333wrJWXd99E9RCckU7OD7Cs-aH3/view?usp=drive_link
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F6824b1e1b52fbb005d3277e2%2FMemo%20-%20Proposed%20Resolution%20Relating%20to%20Front%20Range%20Passenger%20Rail%20District%20and%20RTD%20Joint%20Services.pdf?alt=media&token=70f850f3-4fe8-4912-8a44-c2ab4521edd1
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F6824b1e1b52fbb005d3277e2%2FMemo%20-%20Proposed%20Resolution%20Relating%20to%20Front%20Range%20Passenger%20Rail%20District%20and%20RTD%20Joint%20Services.pdf?alt=media&token=70f850f3-4fe8-4912-8a44-c2ab4521edd1
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F6824b1e1b52fbb005d3277e2%2FMemo%20-%20Proposed%20Resolution%20Relating%20to%20Front%20Range%20Passenger%20Rail%20District%20and%20RTD%20Joint%20Services.pdf?alt=media&token=70f850f3-4fe8-4912-8a44-c2ab4521edd1
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F6824b1e1b52fbb005d3277e2%2FResolution%202025-102%20Regarding%20Front%20Range%20Passenger%20Rail%20.pdf?alt=media&token=ed957912-930c-4194-8c0a-a9e075e0eb81
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F6824b1e1b52fbb005d3277e2%2FResolution%202025-102%20Regarding%20Front%20Range%20Passenger%20Rail%20.pdf?alt=media&token=ed957912-930c-4194-8c0a-a9e075e0eb81
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/broomfield%2Factions%2F6824b1e1b52fbb005d3277e2%2FResolution%202025-102%20Regarding%20Front%20Range%20Passenger%20Rail%20.pdf?alt=media&token=ed957912-930c-4194-8c0a-a9e075e0eb81


Proposed Resolution Regarding Broomfield’s Support for a Potential Ballot Measure of the Front Range 

Passenger Rail District 

Prepared By: Nancy Rodgers, City and County Attorney 

 

 

Summary 

View Correspondence 

View Presentation 

 

On May 13, 2025, Councilmember Ward brought forward a request for future action regarding a resolution 

relating to the Front Range Passenger Rail District and Regional Transportation District Joint Services. After 

discussion, Council determined that a position statement set by resolution would be beneficial and directed 

staff to prepare such a resolution.    

 

Front Range Passenger Rail District (FRPR) has been working on their Service Development Plan (SDP) and a 

Joint Service Report as required by SB24-184, in preparation for a potential ballot measure as early as 2026. 

As it stands, the joint service between FRPR and RTD will have 3-5 round-trips between Fort Collins and 

Denver, with intermediate stops in Loveland, Longmont, Boulder, Louisville, Broomfield, and Westminster, to 

start off with in 2029 and build out to 10 roundtrips a day by 2045. This SDP does not hold RTD to account 

for its 55 roundtrips that it proposed in the 2004 FasTracks ballot initiative. 

 

Resolution No. 2025-102 would be sent to Governor Jared S. Polis; the FRPR Board of Directors; the RTD 

Board of Directors; the Executive Director of the Colorado Department of Transportation; the Transportation 

Commission of Colorado; the Colorado Senate Transportation & Energy Committee; and the Colorado House 

Transportation & Local Government Committee.  

 

A goal of this effort is to ultimately have support from neighboring communities.  Councilmember Ward has 

reached out to Longmont, Boulder, Superior, Louisville, Lafayette, Erie, Boulder County, Jefferson County, 

Westminster, and Adams County. At the time of publishing this memo, we are not aware of other 

communities approving a similar resolution.  

 

Resolution No. 2025-102 conditions Broomfield’s support for any potential ballot question on the inclusion of 

the following measures in the Service Development Plan:   

 

1. FRPR initiation of service must provide for at least 12 round-trips a day between Fort Collins 

and Pueblo and allow for expansion of service based on demand. The Joint Service Model may 

be used by FRPR to meet the aforementioned frequency for Fort Collins to Denver.  
 

2. Since FRPR will be layering service on top of Joint Service, the communities of Louisville, 

Broomfield, and Westminster need to have a stop under FRPR’s service. 
 

3. While the FRPR Service Development Plan may not be the appropriate document to account 

for this, it should be noted that any work done by FRPR to initiate service should not be taken 

to mean that RTD is absolved of its obligation to complete the NW Rail extension to 

Longmont, with all stops as promised in FasTracks (currently missing Longmont, Boulder, 

Louisville, Flatirons & Broomfield Stations in Broomfield, and Downtown Westminster), at a 

minimum frequency of 30 minutes through-out the day (4 am to midnight) to start with and 

building to the 55 trains a day (roughly a 15 frequency for the day) as promised to the voters 

in 2004. 
 

4. Any ballot initiative should include money set aside for FRPR to contract with the respective 

local transit authorities (TRANSFORT, COLT, BATS, RTD, Mountain Metro, Pueblo Transit, and 

 Page 1 

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1H3C5Duwv4J7OiWZ7_9fBn8fPbUZJB46m
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dQECA38Xo6O-G_PF4e2pgTlW6GzWIO82
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1zpSo333wrJWXd99E9RCckU7OD7Cs-aH3/view?usp=drive_link


Proposed Resolution Regarding Broomfield’s Support for a Potential Ballot Measure of the Front Range 

Passenger Rail District 

Prepared By: Nancy Rodgers, City and County Attorney 

 

 

others that may be created or currently exist) to connect communities that are not receiving 

direct service from FRPR (Lafayette, Erie, further into Adams County and Jefferson County as 

examples in the Northwest Denver Metro area), with bus service. 
 

5. Use of zero-emission vehicles at the initiation of service. 

 

Financial Considerations 

This resolution is a policy statement regarding support for a potential ballot question. There are no direct 

financial considerations on this specific resolution.   

 

Prior Council or Other Entity Actions 

May 13, 2025 Request for Future Action regarding a resolution relating to Front Range Passenger Rail District 

and Regional Transportation District Joint Services 

 

Boards and Commissions Prior Actions and Recommendations 

N/A 

 

Proposed Actions / Recommendations 

If Council desires to approve the resolution, the appropriate motion is... 

That Resolution 2025-102 be adopted. 

 

Alternatives 

Modify the resolution as determined by Council, or do not approve the resolution. 

 Page 2 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1zpSo333wrJWXd99E9RCckU7OD7Cs-aH3/view?usp=drive_link


RESOLUTION NO. 2025-102 

 

A resolution regarding the City and County of Broomfield’s support for a potential ballot 

measure of the Front Range Passenger Rail District 

Recitals. 

Whereas, the Front Range Passenger Rail (FRPR) project focuses on introducing 

intercity passenger rail service between Fort Collins and Pueblo along Colorado’s Front Range; 

and 

 

Whereas, the FRPR has been working on their Service Development Plan, a 

requirement of the Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) Corridor Identification Program, and 

a Joint Service Report as required by SB24-184, in preparation for a potential ballot measure 

no earlier than 2026; and 

 

Whereas, the Service Development Plan is a comprehensive document that outlines 

the planning, development, and implementation of a passenger rail service; and  

 

Whereas, in March 2025, the FRPR published its Service Development Plan Preliminary 

Alternatives Analysis Report; and     

 

Whereas, on March 1, 2025, the FRPR Board, RTD Board, and CDOT released a joint 

service report regarding the creation of passenger train service from Denver to Ft. Collins by 

January 1, 2029; and 

 

Whereas, on May 12, 2025, the FRPR Board currently has a scheduled virtual open 

house for the Preliminary Alternatives Analysis open through June 15, 2025; and 

 

Whereas, as it currently stands, the Joint Service model between FRPR, CDOT, and RTD 

will initially have between 3 and 5 round-trips between Fort Collins and Denver starting in 

2029, with intermediate stops in Loveland, Longmont, Boulder, Louisville, Broomfield, and 

Westminster, and FRPR layering their service over Joint Service for a build out of 10 

round-trips a day by 2045; and 

 

Whereas, the plan treats this service like a traditional intercity rail service; while on 

paper and by definition this service is an intercity service, the use of this rail service will also 

be for commuters travelling within submarkets, such as Fort Collins to Boulder, and 

Broomfield to Boulder or Denver; and  

 

Whereas, the plan ignores the fact that this will do very little to reduce vehicle miles 

traveled and help the state meet its greenhouse gas goals, or the Governor's goal to get more 

people taking transit; and  

Page 1 

Revised 5/2025 

https://www.ridethefrontrange.com/_files/ugd/3f188e_7ff500e4024a4676880f3eb9eb920bb7.pdf
https://www.ridethefrontrange.com/_files/ugd/3f188e_7ff500e4024a4676880f3eb9eb920bb7.pdf
https://www.codot.gov/programs/ctio/agenda-item-documents/2025-agenda-item-documents/march/joint-service-report_march-1-2025.pdf
https://www.codot.gov/programs/ctio/agenda-item-documents/2025-agenda-item-documents/march/joint-service-report_march-1-2025.pdf
https://www.ridethefrontrange.com/_files/ugd/3f188e_7ff500e4024a4676880f3eb9eb920bb7.pdf


 

Whereas, there are currently bi-mode multiple units (MU’s) on the market that 

combine battery electric and over-head catenary, hydrogen fuel cell (H2-EMU), and pure 

battery electric (BEMU); and 

 

Whereas, the Council for the City and County of Broomfield supports a comprehensive 

transportation system, and advancing a robust passenger rail network is a critical component 

of that; and  

 

Whereas, the Council believes that certain measures must be included in the plan for 

Broomfield to support any potential ballot question; and  

 

Whereas, the Council encourages other impacted local governments to join in this 

effort by passing their own resolutions regarding the needed changes to the plan in order to 

make any potential ballot measure acceptable for local governments and their constituents. 

 

Now, therefore, be it resolved by the City Council of the City and County of 

Broomfield, Colorado: 

Section 1.   

Incorporating the recitals stated above, the City and Council of Broomfield conditions its 

support for any potential ballot question on the inclusion of the following measures in the 

Service Development Plan:   

 

1. FRPR initiation of service must provide for at least 12 round-trips a day between Fort 

Collins and Pueblo and allow for expansion of service based on demand. The Joint 

Service Model service may be used by FRPR to meet the aforementioned frequency for 

Fort Collins to Denver.  
 

2. Since FRPR will be layering service on top of Joint Service, the communities of 

Louisville, Broomfield, and Westminster need to have a stop under FRPR’s service. 
 

3. While the FRPR Service Development Plan may not be the appropriate document to 

account for this, it should be noted that any work done by FRPR to initiate service 

should not be taken to mean that RTD is absolved of its obligation to complete the NW 

Rail extension to Longmont, with all stops as promised in FasTracks (currently missing 

Longmont, Boulder, Louisville, Flatirons & Broomfield Stations in Broomfield, and 

Downtown Westminster), at a minimum frequency of 30 minutes through-out the day 

(4 am to midnight) to start with and building to the 55 trains a day (roughly a 15 

frequency for the day) as promised to the voters in 2004. 
 

4. Any ballot initiative should include money set aside for FRPR to contract with the 

respective local transit authorities (TRANSFORT, COLT, BATS, RTD, Mountain Metro, 

Pueblo Transit, and others that may be created or currently exist) to connect 

communities that are not receiving direct service from FRPR (Lafayette, Erie, further 

Page 2 

Revised 5/2025 



into Adams County and Jefferson County as examples in the Northwest Denver Metro 

area), with bus service. 
 

5. Use of zero-emission vehicles at the initiation of service. 

Section 2. 

A copy of this resolution will be sent to: The Honorable Jared S. Polis, Governor of Colorado; 

the FRPR Board of Directors; the RTD Board of Directors; the Executive Director of the 

Colorado Department of Transportation; the Transportation Commission of Colorado; the 

Colorado Transportation Investment Office; the Colorado Senate Transportation & Energy 

Committee; and the Colorado House Transportation & Local Government Committee. 

Section 3. 

This resolution is effective upon its approval by the City Council. 

 

 Approved on June 3, 2025 

 

The City and County of Broomfield, Colorado 

 

 

       

Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

      

Office of the City and County Clerk 

 

Approved as to form: 

NCR 
 

       

City and County Attorney 

Page 3 

Revised 5/2025 


	CityCouncilRegularMeeting-2025-06-04
	Item 2A. 
	Memo for Proclamation Declaring June 2025 as LGBTQIA+ Month in Broomfield
	LGBTQIA+ Pride Month Proclamation 2025
	Item 2B. 
	2025 Memo for Gun Violence Prevention Proclamation
	2025 Gun Violence Awareness Day Proclamation
	Item 6A. 
	Memo for Action on a BOE Abatement Petition
	Resolution 2025-83-BOE
	Item 6B. 
	Google Fiber Master License Agreement Memo
	Resolution 2025-86 Google Fiber Master License Agreement
	Google Fiber - Master License Agreement
	Item 6C. 
	Memo Broadband Ready Certified Community
	Resolution No_ 2025-96, Acknowledging Broomfield is a Broadband Ready Certified Community by the Colorado Broadband Office in the Governor’s Office of Information Technology
	City & County of Broomfield BRCC
	Item 7A. 
	Brainard PUD, FP, USR, and SDP_URSP CC URA Memo (1)
	2025-91 Brainard V (Genesis) Resolution
	2025-92-UR Brainard V (Genesis) BURA Resolution)
	Item 7C. 
	Memo - MHFD IGA - Nissen Reservoir Channel Improvements
	Resolution 2025-76
	IGA16-08.02_H_Nissen Reservoir Drainageway_MHFD and Broomfield
	Item 7D. 
	Memo - MHFD IGA - City Park Channel & Main St Improvements
	Resolution 2025-77
	IGA23-08.14_B_City Park Channel at Main Street_MHFD and Broomfield
	Item 7E. 
	Memo - Proposed Resolution Relating to Front Range Passenger Rail District and RTD Joint Services
	Resolution 2025-102 Regarding Front Range Passenger Rail 

